
This meeting is being recorded for public 
review on the City of Millersburg website. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING & REGULAR MEETING 
In-Person Meeting with Remote Access Available 

Millersburg City Hall 
4222 NE Old Salem Road, Millersburg OR  97321 

January 9, 2024 @ 6:30 p.m. 
 

Agenda 
 

Remote access for the meeting is available. Instructions for joining the meeting can be found at 
hhttps://www.millersburgoregon.gov/citycouncil/page/city-council-public-hearing-regular-meeting-0. 
If you do not have access to a phone or computer, or need additional support, please contact City 

Hall prior to 5:00 p.m. on Monday, January 8, 2024. 
 

Meeting link to join via computer: 
https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/11597014359 

Phone number to join meeting:  503-212-9900 
Meeting ID:  115 9701 4359 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

 
B. ROLL CALL 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
D. CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

 
E. CONSENT AGENDA 

1) Approval of December 12, 2023, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
Action: _____________________________________________________ 

 
F. GUEST PRESENTATIONS 

1) Linn County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 
2) Albany Fire Department Quarterly Report 

 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1) FILE No.: DC 23-02 - This Development Code Text Amendment proposes to 
make 34 revisions to the existing Development Code. 
Action: _____________________________________________________ 

 
H. PUBLIC COMMENT 

The public has the opportunity to address the Council during "Public Comment” while in the virtual 
meeting by virtually signaling by unmuting first, then those who call in will be acknowledged, or if the 
public prefers, may send written comments by email to cityclerk@cityofmillersburg.org. Please limit 

Rules of Conduct for Public Meetings 
 
No person shall be disorderly, abusive, or disruptive of the orderly conduct of the meeting. Microphones 
will be muted and webcams will be turned off for remote participants unless called upon to speak or 
during public comment period. 
 
Persons shall not comment or testify without first receiving recognition from the presiding officer and 
stating their full name and city of residence.  
 
During public hearings no person shall present irrelevant, immaterial, or repetitious testimony or evidence. 
 
There shall be no audience demonstrations such as applause, cheering, display of signs, or other conduct 
disruptive of the meeting.  If online participant(s) disrupt the meeting, the participant(s) microphone and 
webcam will be turned off.  If disruption continues, the participant(s) will be removed from the meeting. 

Page 1 of 118

https://www.millersburgoregon.gov/citycouncil/page/city-council-public-hearing-regular-meeting-0
https://aspenuc.accessionmeeting.com/j/11597014359
mailto:citvclerk@cityofmillersburg.org


comments to one page and include your name and address. Emails received before 5:00 p.m. on the 
day of the meeting will be included and read into the record for comments by the Council. 

I. COUNCIL MEMBER AND STAFF COMMENTS
1) Committee Assignments - Mayor

J. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT
1) Project Updates
2) Transition Parkway Design Update

K. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT
1) Open Public Meetings & Records Review

L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
1) Republic Services Rate Increase Request

Action:

M. NEW BUSINESS
1) Budget Committee Appointment

Action:

N. CLOSING COUNCIL COMMENT

O. ADJOURNMENT

Upcoming Meetings & Events: 
For a schedule of meetings and events, visit the City’s website calendar at 
https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/meetings  

The meeting is accessible to the disabled. If you have a disability that requires accommodation to 
attend or participate, please notify the Millersburg City Hall in advance by calling 458-233-6300. 

Page 2 of 118

https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/meetings


1 | P a g e

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING & REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
December 12, 2023 @ 6:30 p.m. 

A. CALL TO ORDER Meeting called to order by Mayor Cowan at 6:30 p.m.

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

C. ROLL CALL
Councilors Present: Mayor Scott Cowan, Councilors Dave Harms, Mike Hickam, and

John Sullivan 

Councilors Absent:  Mark Raum 

Staff Present: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager; Janelle Booth, Assistant City 
Manager/City Engineer; Matt Straite, Community Development 
Director; Alan Sorem, City Attorney; Sheena Dickerman, City 
Recorder  

D. CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA    6:30 p.m.
Mayor Scott Cowan said Julie Jackson with Republic Services would not be able to
attend due to illness. Council would have a conversation regarding Republic
Services, but the presentation would take place at the next Council meeting.

E. CONSENT AGENDA 6:31 p.m. 
1) Approval of November 14, 2023, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes

Action: Motion to adopt the Consent Agenda as presented made by Councilor 
Mike Hickam; seconded by Mayor Scott Cowan. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam: Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motion PASSED: 4/0 

F. GUEST PRESENTATIONS 6:32 p.m. 
1.) Linn County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report

Sheriff Michelle Duncan reviewed the LCSO report in the agenda packet*. She 
stated that a significant amount of calls came from Love’s Truck Stop. Fifteen of 
the calls were initiated from Love’s and 10 calls were self-initiated by deputies 
during patrols.  She added that out of the 143 incidents, 56 were self-initiated by 
deputies.  

Duncan said having a deputy in Millersburg reduces the response times. She 
added that another benefit of having a resident deputy is them knowing all the 
“players” in town. It is an inherent benefit that is not captured in contract hours. 

Page 3 of 118



 

2 | P a g e  
 

LCSO backfills the contract deputy if they are out on leave, other jurisdictions do 
not. Having a contract deputy is a benefit for both entities.  
 
Duncan talked about the incident on November 1, 2023, where deputies arrested 
someone for siphoning gas at Love’s. She mentioned crashes and disturbances 
that took place at Love’s.  
 
Duncan said there was a burglary at a local business and there is video 
surveillance. Deputies are doing extra patrols and business checks. She has 
encouraged Deputy Ross to create a call log when he is checking on business. 
Deputy Devin Ross said that he had noticed, on social media, that residents had 
been complaining that there were no nightly patrols; he is making a point to 
document where he was and what he is doing when he is on patrol. He said that 
having his presence at Love’s deters people and they will go other places.  
 
Ducan commented that the recent contacts at Love’s had resulted in arrests for 
warrants. The majority of those being arrested are not from here; they are from 
locations either north or south of Linn County.  
 
Duncan mentioned the bomb threat at Central Linn school, and other locations 
throughout the region. LCSO deputies are working with other entities to help solve 
this case. Deputies treat every incident seriously. Ross shared that the entire school 
was searched, this one took over three hours. Cowan commented that it is a lot 
of work for a “phone call”. Duncan said threats come in through phone calls and 
emails. She added that there are times, called “swatting”, when it comes in from 
gaming apps and deputies go out to find nothing is going on there. Sometimes 
kids think it is funny until they get arrested and other times it is to divert deputies 
from other situations.  
 
Duncan explained “swatting”; a situation where LCSO sends out everyone and 
sometimes SWAT. Ross said Albany had a recent call where someone called to 
say that they shot their parents and had a hostage, but when deputies responded 
the owner had no idea what was going on. Duncan shared another incident that 
happened out of state, where the homeowner didn’t know what was going on 
and came out with a gun. Councilor Mike Hickam added that the person who 
made that call was in a different state. Cowan said it sounded like they found 
him. Ducan and Hickam affirmed.  
 
Ross said that even if a call is most likely a prank, all calls are treated the same. 
Cowan said it was sad, you must go in ready to meet the worst, you don’t know 
their mindset.  
 
Cowan pointed out the 10 arrests made. City Manager Kevin Kreitman shared 
that there was a speeder doing 80 mph in a 40 mph. Ross described the situation. 
He said that he used to be able to pull people over all day long in that area but 
that it has slowed down since his presence was there.  
 
City Attorney Alan Sorem asked if with all the technology and Apple speed maps 
if that was a feedback loop to the deputies and how it impacted their job. Ross 

Page 4 of 118



 

3 | P a g e  
 

replied he hadn’t seen an impact. He said it was more common on the major 
highways. Duncan said that deputies do pay attention to social media and apps 
but if they recognize they are noticed then they will change locations. She added 
that LCSO has access to the technology but has to be careful because there are 
already court cases saying “you’re searching them” by using technology like 
license plate readers. She talked about the impacts of pulling someone over for 
a traffic stop and running warrants and the use of license readers. 
 
Kreitman stated that the City has two fantastic resident deputies. They do a good 
job of keeping staff informed. Duncan agreed. 
 
Kreitman emphasized that City staff doesn’t monitor social media. Due to our lean 
staffing levels.  He encouraged everyone with a concern to contact City Hall 
and/or go to the City’s website 
https://www.millersburgoregon.gov/administration/page/report-problem-or-
concern.  
 

G. PUBLIC COMMENT        6:50 p.m. 
Casey Lambert, Albany OR (Millersburg)-She is new to Millersburg. She has horses and 
a cow she shares with people’s backyard. She enjoys the community and wanted to 
see how she could get involved. She wanted to provide any educational purposes 
to have her horses participate in any City events.  
 
Lambert said she was willing to give her cell phone number out, as sometimes there 
are fencing issues and other concerns and she would like to take care of anything 
before it escalates. Kreitman said that if she didn’t want to give her information out 
she could give it to the City Recorder and staff could give her a call or give them her 
number if someone called. Lambert replied she is a small business owner and will 
have it on her website anyway. She gave her phone number, 629-333-2054. She 
encourages anyone to reach out with any questions regarding horses and large 
animals. Kreitman shared that one of the resident deputies is a horse person and it 
would be good to put them in contact with one another for resources.  
 
Sorem encouraged her to talk to Community Development Director Matt Straite 
regarding signs and zoning restrictions.  
 
Hickam shared that he had talked to Lambert and she had reached out to the fire 
department regarding possible training. He asked Lambert if she had reached out to 
Jefferson or Albany, as Albany services Millersburg. Lambert said that she had 
sponsored her shed for the State Fair for the Oregon State Fire Marshals Office. She 
thought it was a good idea to offer classes regarding the basics of how to handle 
large animals in case of a fire. Cowan thought it was a great idea and said he would 
share it with Albany Fire. He added that AFD does do a class regarding large animal 
rescue, there was a training a few years ago with Jefferson Fire.   
 
Cowan said he is meeting with the committee who does the Farmer’s Market next 
month and the City has an Events Planning Committee, the Farmer’s Market may be 
a good place for an educational component. He will share her information with 
them. Lambert is happy to help with any ideas.  

Page 5 of 118

https://www.millersburgoregon.gov/administration/page/report-problem-or-concern
https://www.millersburgoregon.gov/administration/page/report-problem-or-concern


 

4 | P a g e  
 

 
 
COUNCIL and Staff 

 
Cowan said the parade was successful. There were 10 floats/vehicles. There will be a 
review next month to talk about how to improve the parade. Hickam said he wanted 
to make sure that for any future events that the committee take into consideration 
that Millersburg has residential and the farm community. He shared that he knew 
Lambert had put a lot of work into her horses to be a part of the parade, only to be 
told no. He felt that the City missed an opportunity to bring the two communities 
together. He understands the liability issues but wants to make sure that the City takes 
those into consideration for the future. Cowan said it was unfortunate and would be 
brought up for an after-action review.  
 
Cowan said there are openings on the Events Planning Committee if she (Lambert) 
would like to apply. He apologized for this recent situation. He stated that the City is 
definitely partners with agriculture and industry.   
 
Councilor Dave Harms asked what the liabilities were. Kreitman replied that this was 
City sponsored event and the City’s insurance, CIS, becomes involved. For this event 
no one had considered animals being involved, with the speed and the distance of 
the parade. Staff became aware only three days prior. He shared that a few years 
ago the City had llamas at an event and the insurer wanted to see certain things for 
protections. CIS wants to make sure all the protections are in place.  
 
Hickam mentioned that the City sponsors this parade and other parades have other 
sponsors, and this puts a different liability on the City. Kreitman said that the Veterans 
Day Parade is sponsored by veterans and Albany’s Twice Around Parade is 
sponsored by the Albany Downtown Association. He said with it being a City event, 
it is unfortunate that if something happens people are more quick to bring legal 
action. Harms asked if it was doable. Kreitman affirmed. He apologized to Lambert 
and said it would have been cool to have the horses participate. Since it is a night 
parade CIS has more concerns, with children running out and it is usually raining. It is 
not the greatest conditions as when a parade is during the day. The City wants to 
make sure there are extra protections for all. Lambert said that Saint Paul Rodeo 
insurance covers. Kreitman explained that those associations already have a blanket 
cover for those events, the City does not.  
 
Cowan mentioned that he had met with the new Linn County Clerk Marcie Richey 
and the Chief Deputy Linn County Clerk. They came to see the new drop box. They 
have been with Linn County for 25 to 30 years and have seen all the changes in 
Millersburg. 
 

H. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT       7:09 p.m. 
1) Project Updates 

Kreitman said that the propane tank for the generator should be delivered this 
week and set up next week. All the hallway lighting is on the emergency circuit, 
and all the front office lighting and copier was able to be on that circuit. There 
would be no heat, but there would be functionality in that part of the building. 

Page 6 of 118



 

5 | P a g e  
 

He said that from Straite’s office to the back of the building would be powered 
and have heat. The alarm system was also added to the circuit. This is enough to 
maintain operations in an emergency.  
 
Straite gave a brief update on North Millersburg Park. The Parks Commission met 
to take a last look at two different drafts based on public input and the Parks 
Commission input to narrow it down to the preferred alternative. The next step is 
to take it to the Planning Commission on January 2, 2024, to make a final action. 
Once that has been completed staff will start looking at grant funding for 
construction. Cowan shared that he had been participating in the meetings. He 
asked Straite to walk Council through the next steps in the process. Straite said 
that it would go to the Planning Commission for a land use approval, for the 
concept plan, on January 2, 2024. After that we would look for a grant for 
construction level drawings. This would also involve public input, as it would be 
the exact details of what would be going into the park. Once the construction 
level design has been completed, staff would apply for a grant for actual 
construction. Kreitman added that Council would be more involved in the final 
design and construction levels. He added that if anyone contested it after the 
Planning Commission meeting, it would come to Council for appeal, just like any 
other land use decision. Straite added that the hope is that it would be a light 
touch on the budget because there is plenty of grant funding out there.  
 
Cowan reminded Council that a survey went out and they were trying to follow 
the comments received from the public on desired amenities, high priority and 
low priority. Straite pointed out that this version included bocce ball and cornhole, 
based on what the public wanted. This park was designed by Millersburg 
residents.  
 
Kreitman mentioned that at the last meeting there was a request from the Parks 
Commission to consider adding bocce ball and/or cornhole at the main 
Millersburg Park. He said this would be brought up again during the budget 
process. Harms asked what bocce ball was. Sorem said it was like shuffleboard. 
Harms asked if you brought your own stuff. Straite affirmed.  He described the 
game.  
 
Kreitman said there would need to be further discussion with Council regarding a 
property line adjustment at the new park frontage on Millersburg Drive so that 
access to the residence is not in conflict with the park., There will need to be 
discussion about how Council would like to address this in the future 
 
Cowan said there was 8 to 10 parking spots and a gate. He thought it looked 
good. He thanked the Parks Commission and Consultant for their hard work.  
 
Booth mentioned a project at the Albany-Millersburg Water treatment plant to 
replace a large valve this week. This may lower water pressure for residents. She 
explained the process of what was being done. She said that when Millersburg’s 
water is fed from the south, sometimes, the people in the north end may 
experience some lower water pressures. There is nothing wrong with the system, it 

Page 7 of 118



 

6 | P a g e  
 

is just a difference that some may notice. Normally the City has high water 
pressures.  
 
 

2) Transition Parkway Design Update  
Booth shared that we are still working through permitting process for the wetlands. 
The City is purchasing wetland credits for mitigation. There is 1.13 acres the City is 
disturbing. Looking to go out to bid in February or March. 
 

3) Ball Field Usage  
Booth said staff wanted to share how staff has been handling ball field usage 
requests. The City has two ball fields; north field and south field. The south ball field 
is in better shape and is drier. The north field sometimes is unusable until late spring 
because of drainage in the park. There is some drainage in the south and no 
drainage in the north.  
 
Booth said there are lots of groups that would like to use the fields, and a lot of 
requests for reservations. She explained that the park shelter is reserved on a first 
come, first served basis. Millersburg residents are allowed to reserve it in 
December and non-residents starting January 1. In the past Staff has received 
direction from Council that for the ball fields they wanted to see the most benefit 
to Millersburg families rather than outside groups. The City has had a long standing 
relationship with JBO and they always submit their application, along with others. 
This has not always been first come, first served because JBO is the organization, 
traditionally, that serves the most Millersburg kids. Staff want to make sure that 
they are stewarding the fields in the best interests of the City and Council’s 
expectations.  
 
Kreitman said that the intent would be to look at those applications in February 
or March and look at the highest invested use for the community. There have 
been some traveling teams making requests, that say they have a lot of 
Millersburg students. He explained that JBO has multiple teams and they feed into 
the High School. Staff wanted Council to know in case they hear that residents 
are not happy with the process. He commented that JBO works with staff to help 
others have access when there is a need. Cowan supported staff looking at it 
and trying to accommodate, with Millersburg kids being the priority. Booth added 
that it hasn’t been contentious yet, but there are a lot of competing interests. 
Hickam said, “build it and they will come”. 

 
I. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT        7:26 p.m. 

Sorem said that the City received an inquiry from Conser Homes regarding if the City 
would be willing to accept a donation of land that is abutting City property. Staff is 
looking for a beginning statement if Council wants staff to work with the property 
owner to provide a proposal. When the City does real estate, the City wants 
evidence that the property is for public use. In the context of a donation agreement, 
the City will be looking for the fair market value of the property, as the property owner 
will be looking for a deduction and the City will want to be in compliance with 
regulations. The City will not want to have liability for preexisting conditions, so will 

Page 8 of 118



 

7 | P a g e  
 

typically ask the property owner to agree to an indemnity agreement that would 
ensure the City is protected. Staff would not do anything final without it being brought 
back to the Council for a public meeting and final determination, but staff is looking 
for direction from Council.  
 
Straite pointed out the abutting properties that the City owns. Sorem said the City 
uses the property for drainage purposes. Booth added that the City has sewer lines 
with easements over, but it is helpful to have control of the property as well. Kreitman 
said that it would also help with access, coming off of Old Salem Road. Sorem 
commented that the properties are zoned public.  
 

Action: Motion to move forward as City staff discussed made by Councilor 
Dave Harms; seconded by Councilor Mike Hickam. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 

Motion PASSED: 4/0 
 

J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS       7:32 p.m. 
1) Republic Services Rate Increase Request 
Kreitman said that on page 56 of the packet, is the amendment to the agreement, 
that gives a six-month extension. Republic Services is not opposed to extending it past 
the six months. He said Julie Jackson is out sick and asked Council to hold off as she 
would like an opportunity to address the Council. He said the Council can start 
looking at the modification of the intergovernmental agreement.  
 
Cowan reminded everyone that at the last meeting there was some discussion 
regarding the services from Republic Services. The Council asked them to respond 
regarding the amendment. Republic services request is a one percent increase for 
2024. He said he had some questions to ask Jackson next month. He wanted to look 
at the June 1, 2024, time frame, and if that is an adequate timeframe to meet. He 
would like to start a work session in January.  
 
Kreitman asked if they wanted to address the entire thing with work sessions. He said 
it would be cumbersome. He asked if the Council wanted to do an initial work session 
and then direct staff and a representative from Council. Staff has become aware of 
companies that do this type of work to assist with it. He asked what Council wanted. 
Normally, franchise agreements are done at the staff level with direction from 
Council.  
 
Hickam asked what all that would entail. He would like to look at the pickup 
schedule. He thinks recycling is picked up too much and yard debris is not picked up 
enough. Kreitman said that the base rate for all the cities is recycling. He said that 

Page 9 of 118



 

8 | P a g e  
 

Republic Services has offered to do weekly yard debris and food waste pickup, but 
the past Council has elected not to do that.  He said that usually the public that 
attends has said that they never use it. There is an additional cost, but it could be 
done. He said that with the State regulations there must be recycling. Councilor John 
Sullivan agreed. Kreitman said he knew some residents had two-yard debris carts. 
Sullivan replied there is a rate for an extra yard debris cart. Kreitman said it was a 
Council decision and from his understanding it is an all in or all out situation.  
 
Cowan asked if by having it every week if there was a fee for the City or a fee for the 
individual. Kreitman replied there is no fee for the City but for everyone. Sullivan 
explained that in Salem they elected to do 95 gallon recycle carts. The City has a 65 
gallon recycling and a 90 gallon yard debris.  
 
Cowan suggested doing a survey to get feedback from the community. Kreitman 
recommended asking how many residents currently have that cart. Harms agreed 
to doing a survey, to see what the City gets back. Sorem suggested that Republic 
Services might be able to help do the survey. Hickam thought that Republic Services 
could say how much they pick up. Sullivan said the rate was minimum. Kreitman said 
that with those it cuts down the size of the garbage bins and what goes to the land 
fill. Republic Services doesn’t want that much going to the landfills. 
 
Harms would like a question on the survey to include how happy residents are with 
their (Republic Services) services.  
  
Cowan suggested a work session in January to come up with questions for a survey 
and to have some questions answered from Republic Services. Kreitman suggested 
that if the agenda for the Council meeting in January remained small that the 
Council could do a work session following the public meeting. If the agenda for that 
Council meeting is filled up, it could be done at the normal work session week.  
  
Cowan encouraged Council to jot down questions or anything on their mind 
regarding their garbage. He encouraged anyone in the public to reach out to staff 
if they had any thoughts.    
 

K. NEW BUSINESS        7:41 p.m. 
1) Water Intergovernmental Agreements 

Kreitman mentioned the City has two intergovernmental agreements (IGA) with 
Albany for water, and also two for wastewater, but these agreements are for 
water. The two water IGAs have been revised. Staff has been meeting with the 
City of Albany (COA) regarding the IGAs. The IGAs were last revised in 2016. One 
IGA addresses governance, operations, buildings, and other conditions for our 
jointly owned facilities. The other IGA addresses the City’s system located here 
that COA operates for the City. He said one of the changes is the Direct 
Responsible Charge (DRC) operator which the City is required to have. Albany 

Page 10 of 118



 

9 | P a g e  
 

has agreed to take this on. The City’s current DRC provider has given notice that 
they do not have anyone to provide that service starting December 31, 2023. 
 
Another piece is with the jointly owned facilities insurance coverage. Since both 
have CIS, they asked who is ultimately responsible if a claim comes up, to make 
sure that it is clear it has been changed in the IGA that COA is. It also includes 
how billing is handled to better account for the use of the Vine Street treatment 
plant. He explained that since 2016 the plants are more automated and how 
COA is utilizing their staff there is overlap between plant operators. Booth 
continued saying the changes are to make sure that they are capturing their 
operators’ time for Millersburg appropriately. Kreitman said the City will see an 
increase going forward for things that have been missing, but the City will not be 
going back to pay for the things that were missed in the past. This will likely result 
in the need for a budget amendment later in the year. Booth said that the City 
has been building reserves in the water and wastewater funds because the City 
wasn’t paying to Albany as much as originally projected. However, a budget 
amendment may be needed because the City didn’t allocate to spend those 
funds this fiscal year.  
 
Booth added that regarding the City’s rates, may need to look at them in the 
next year or two and see where the City stands. This does not necessarily mean 
that there will need to be rate increases that were not already anticipated but it 
is something the City should investigate.  
 
Kreitman highlighted one of the changes was that the Vine Street plant had 
previously been kept separate in the IGA. The current IGA had a formula that the 
City would pay additional funds for receiving water from the Vine Street Plant. The 
new IGA removes this language because it looks at the system as a whole and 
occasional use of Vine Street is already accounted for. He added that this is a 
benefit to Millersburg. Booth said that if Council wanted to walk through the 
calculations, it could be done but that level of detail is not in the IGA.  The IGA 
says Millersburg will be billed our proportionate share based on usage of the 
system.  
 
Cowan reviewed the document. Hickam didn’t have an issue with it. Cowan 
asked about the numbers in section 3. Kreitman explained how much the City 
owned and what percentage the City pays. Booth added that this is the 
percentage the City owns and what the City pays for capital projects. Council 
and staff talked about the flow of water and how much the City is charged each 
month for usage, and for capital projects. Kreitman said the percentages were 
added so that it was clear, at full build out the City owns 23 percent of the 
treatment capacity but 50 percent of the storage.  

 
Action: Motion for the Council to approve the revised Jointly-Owned Water 
Facilities and Water Distribution System Maintenance Services IGAs with City of 
Albany and direct City Manager to sign the updated agreements made by 
Councilor John Sullivan; seconded by Councilor Dave Harms. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 

Page 11 of 118



 

10 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 
  Passed 4/0 

 
Kreitman mentioned that the IGA would go to the COA City Council tomorrow 
but had to have a minor change; it listed their previous City Recorder Mary Dibble 
and needed to be changed before signing.  
 
 
 

2) MMC 12.45.040 Surface Water Code Update 
Booth said there was a minor update, revised April in 2023, to meet MS4 
requirements. She said she found a couple of things that needed to be updated. 
She pointed out that a new version of the ordinance was placed at their seats*. 
She said after it had been sent Sorem, City Attorney, he recommended some 
formatting changes but it didn’t change the content.  

 
Action: Motion for the Council to adopt Ordinance 209-23 made by Councilor 
Dave Harms; seconded by Councilor John Sullivan. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 
  Passed 4/0 
 

3) Planning Commission Appointments 
Kreitman mentioned reappointments for Planning Commission, Parks Commission 
and a new appointment to the Budget Committee. For Planning Commission, 
Doug Iverson and Brandon Abresch for four-year reappointments. For Parks 
Commission reappointments Lynn Dunn and Caryl Thomas. He commented that 
there were three Budget Committee openings; Doug Iverson was a 
reappointment and Mike Martin and Talley Richardsons had requested to step 
down from the Budget Committee. He said a new application for appointment 
to the Budget Committee is Dick Perdue. He added that if Council knew anyone 
who wanted to be on the Budget Committee there was an opening.  
 
Hickam made a joke to nominate Doug Iverson to the Parks Committee.  
 
Action: Motion for the Council to appoint Doug Iverson and Brandon Abresch to 
the Planning Commission made by John Sullivan; seconded by Councilor Mike 
Hickam. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 
  Passed 4/0 
 
 

4) Parks Commission Appointments 

Page 12 of 118



 

11 | P a g e  
 

 
Action: Motion for the Council to appoint Lynn Dunn and Caryl Thomas to the Parks 
Commission made by Councilor Mike Hickam; seconded by Councilor John 
Sullivan. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 
  Passed 4/0 
 
 

5) Budget Committee Appointments 
 

Action: Motion for the Council to appoint Doug Iverson and Dick Perdue to the 
Budget Committee made by Councilor Dave Harms; seconded by Councilor John 
Sullivan. 

Mayor Scott Cowan: Aye 
Councilor Dave Harms: Aye 
Councilor Mike Hickam:  Aye 
Councilor John Sullivan: Aye 
  Passed 4/0 
 

L. CLOSING COUNCIL COMMENT      8:02 p.m. 
Sullivan asked about the tank farm status. Kreitman replied that they had said they 
were confident it would be removed by the end of the year. They have been working 
with companies for quotes for removal. Sullivan asked when fines would start. He 
recommended sending a 30-day notice. Kreitman reminded that it was held up to 
do testing if it was potentially a seismic back up location. He said staff would follow 
up with them. Cowan asked staff to get back to Council about the status. 
 
Cowan wished everyone a Merry Christmas and safe holidays.  
 

M. ADJOURNMENT Mayor Cowan adjourned the regular meeting at 8:06 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
Sheena Dickerman     Kevin Kreitman 
City Recorder     City Manager 
 
*Presentation materials or documents discussed at the meeting that are not in the agenda packet are archived 
in the record. Documents from staff are posted to the website after the meeting. Documents submitted by the 
public are available by emailing info@cityofmillersburg.org.  

Page 13 of 118

mailto:info@cityofmillersburg.org


 

LINN COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE 
 

Michelle Duncan, Sheriff 
1115 S.E. Jackson Street, Albany, OR 97322 

Albany, OR. 97322 
Phone: 541-967-3950 
www.linnsheriff.org 

 
 

 
 

2023 
 

MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
FROM THE LINN COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

 
 
 

FOR THE MONTH OF:   DECEMBER 
  

TRAFFIC CITATIONS: --------------------------------------------- 14               
TRAFFIC WARNINGS: ---------------------------------------------   16   
TRAFFIC CRASHES: ------------------------------------------------ 3 
ARRESTS MADE:   --------------------------------------------------- 12 
COMPLAINTS/INCIDENTS INVESTIGATED:--------------- 
 
 

  138 

   
TOTAL HOURS SPENT:     

MILLERSBURG  
178  hours                       

 

 
 

CONTRACT HOURS= 153 HOURS 
 

      
Michelle Duncan, 

         Sheriff, Linn County 
 
         By: Sgt. Steven Frambes 

Page 14 of 118



 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG  

QUARTERLY REPORT 
JANUARY 9, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Millersburg Response Times 

Average 911 Call Received to Arrival Time 

 FY 21  FY 22 FY23 FY24 
(To Date) 

All Incidents 7:34 7:41 7:31 7:28 

City of Millersburg  
Total Responses 

Month FY 21 FY 22 FY 23 FY24 

July 17 35 20 25 

August 26 34 24 30 

September 28 27 22 18 

October 29 26 25 21 

November 21 20 35 19 

December 30 24 34 17 

January 29 24 22  

February 26 22 20  

March 21 19 24  

April 28 24 20  

May 36 20 26  

June 23 16 31  

Total 314 291 303 130 

FY24 Projection 260 

Albany Fire Department 
Total Responses 

Month 
FY 21  
Total 

FY 22 
Total 

FY 23 
Total 

FY 24 
Total 

July 858 1,070 992 1,001 

August 884 1,048 968 1,018 

September 893 1,010 920 862 

October 866 958 972 957 

November 824 941 970 891 

December 876 945 1,158 970 

January 883 911 1,007  

February 817 829 914  

March 795 853 880  

April 926 864 905  

May 905 896 891  

June 922 936 924  

Total 10,449 11,291 11,501 5,699 

FY24 Projection 11,398 

Page 15 of 118



   

   

 

Call Type Count 

SICK PERSON 17 

FALL 16 

FIRE ALARM ACTIVATION 8 

LIFT ASSIST 7 

STROKE  6 

UNKNOWN MEDICAL PROBLEM 6 

HEMORRHAGE BLEED 5 

BREATHING PROBLEMS 5 

MVC INJURY 5 

STRUCTURE FIRE 4 

SMALL MISC FIRE 4 

UNCONSCIOUS FAINTING 4 

OD INGESTION POISONING 4 

ABDOMINAL PAIN OR PROBLEMS 3 

CAR FIRE 3 

HEART PROBLEMS  3 

BACK PAIN 3 

TRAUMA INJURY 3 

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE 3 

DIABETIC PROBLEM 3 

CARDIAC ARREST 3 

POLE FIRE 2 

ASSAULT, RAPE, VIOLENT TRAUMA 2 

CHEST PAIN 2 

STABBING OR GUNSHOT 1 

COLD OR HEAT EXPOSURE 1 

SMOKE INVESTIGATION 1 

BURN COMPLAINT 1 

WIRE DOWN 1 

SMALL NATURAL COVER FIRE 1 

HEADACHE 1 

ALLERGY, HIVES, REACTION STING 1 

ODOR INVESTIGATION 1 

Grand Total 130 

Page 16 of 118



       City of Millersburg                                                                          January 3, 2024 
STAFF REPORT: 

 
File No: DC 23-02 Code Updates                                  

 
Proposal: This Development Code Text Amendment proposes to make 341 revisions to the 
existing Development Code.  These include 19 changes required by the State’s Climate 
Friendly and Equitable Communities (CFEC) mandates, a revised definition for day care and 
ADU’s, clarity for commercial land divisions, additional clarity for ADU development standards, 
additions to the farm and livestock section to correct typos and prohibit exotic animals, 
clarification on naming streets, additional revisions to the commercial design guidelines, 
revisions to the historic zoning overlay section, adding clarification regarding street trees, 
adding details to the standards for manufactured homes, clarifying standards for RV covers, 
clarifying setbacks for flag lots, correcting several erroneous figures, adding new state 
requirements for single room occupancies, clarifying details for clear vision areas, and 
correcting a typo regarding trail locations.    

 
I. BACKGROUND 

 
A. Applicant:  City of Millersburg 

 
B. Location:   City Wide  

 
C. Review Type:  The proposed Development Code Amendment (DC) requires a 

hearing before the Planning Commission whereby the Commission makes a 
recommendation to the City Council. A subsequent hearing before the City Council 
is required for a final action, including the adoption of an ordinance. Any appeal of 
the City Council’s decision relating to this matter will be considered by the Oregon 
Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA). 

 
D. Public Notice and Hearing: A notice was posted in City Hall. A separate notice was 

sent to the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) on 
November 28, 2023.  Information related to the hearing is posted on the City’s 
website here - https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/planning/page/dc-23-02-
development-code-amendments. A Measure 56 notice was sent to every tax 
address in the City on December 6, 2023. A notice was also posted in the newspaper 
on December 16, 2023. 

 
The DLCD provided comments by email. Some minor revisions were made at their 
request to have the Code updates more closely mirror the new rules in the OAR.  
The version of the Code update attached to this staff report includes these 
changes.    

 
E. Review Criteria: Millersburg Development Code Section 5.11.030.  These criteria also 

require compliance with the applicable Statewide Planning Goals and Oregon 
Administrative Rules, 660-004, 660-012, 660-014, 660-015, 660-022, and Oregon 
Revised Statutes 197.732. 

 
F. Current Zoning: All zones will have some effect from the proposed changes. No 

zoning map changes are proposed.    
 

G. Background: A good Land Use Development Code is never completed.  It should 
 

1 One was removed just before the hearing, so the table below still lists 35 
Page 17 of 118

http://cityofmillersbrg.org/planning-commision/
http://cityofmillersbrg.org/planning-commision/


 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 2 of 28 

 
 

grow and change with the community’s needs. Staff regularly compiles a list of 
needed edits.  Once the list becomes large enough (or a change is particularly 
urgent) then staff brings it forward for adoption. Typically, this ends up being an 
annual review and update. The last update was about one year ago.  At the time 
this staff report was written there are 35 different code revisions proposed. 

 
A table is shown below including all changes proposed at a glance. The actual 
proposed changes are attached in a separate document.  
 
Nineteen of the proposed changes are related to the States new requirements to 
combat greenhouse gas emissions.  These new requirements are collectively called 
the Climate Friendly and Equitable Communities (CFEC) requirements. These are not 
laws, they are called Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR).  While these differ from 
actual laws (in Oregon the laws are called Oregon Revised Statutes or ORS’s), they 
are treated the same as laws, because they are required by the State. Most of the 
CFEC rules affect larger cities, but some of the new rules will impact Millersburg.  Our 
City is required to implement parking revisions and some design requirements for 
parking areas.  Issues 1-19 in the table below reflect the parking changes required 
by CFEC.   
 
The new CFEC rules provide different options for cities regarding the parking 
changes. One option requires the City to waive all parking mandates, in other 
words, eliminate all minimum number of parking spaces required (typically these 
vary based on the proposed use for each project).  For our Code these are in Table 
14.  The second option allows the City to keep most parking mandates, but this 
option comes with lots of other complicated requirements, including requirements 
that employers pay employees to not drive to work. To make this transition easier for 
the City, staff recommends option 1- waiving all parking mandates.  The following 
proposed edits comply with option 1.   
 
NOTE: Most of these proposed Code revisions are unchanged since the Planning 
Commission last meet in a workshop. The few exceptions include: 
• Several small edits were made based on the review of our City Attorneys.  The 

most substantive of these included the addition of several standards for 
sidewalks internal to parking areas, see proposed edits to Section 3.03.080(9).     

• RV cover standards will now permit metal RV covers, see Section 3.15.  
• Singe Room Occupancies (SROs) proposals. 
• The previous edits proposed for non-conforming uses have been removed from 

the update because they may have resulted in unintended consequences.   
• The proposed Zoning and Land Use map changes discussed at the workshop 

have been removed and will be processed under a separate case number at a 
later date. 

• The DLCD provided comments that culminated in the following minor edits: 
• Transit stops and ADA spaces were added to the list of places that required 

Page 18 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 3 of 28 

 
 

internal parking lot sidewalk connections in 3.03.080(9). 
• The parking lot tree requirements in 3.09.030(2)c have been revised to add 

a requirement for coordination with power companies when designing/ 
implementing a tree canopy plan. 

• Section 3.03.040, a section regulating shared parking lots, was revised to 
clarify that no City approval is required to enter into a shared use 
agreement, though the requirement that there be an easement remains.   

 
 

  DC 23-02 CODE UPDATE PROPOSED CHANGES (as of December 6, 2023) 
 

Code Update Summary Table  
 Section Topic Proposed Update 
CFEC proposed Code Updates 
Remove all parking mandates OAR 660-012-0400(3) 
1 3.03.010 Purpose Change parking purpose 

section 
Change provide ‘adequate 
areas’ for the parking to provide 
‘standards’ for the parking. 

2 3.03.020(2) Scope Delete the change of use 
exception 

Delete subsection 2 which 
required changes of use to 
comply with stall number 
requirements.   

3 3.03.030 Location Add text to clarify that 
parking is not required 

Add text “Any provided” before 
“off-street parking…” 

4 3.03.030(2) 
Location 

Remove reference to 
required number of spaces 

Delete last sentence of the text.   

5 3.03.030(4) 
Location 

Remove reference to 
required number of spaces 

Delete last sentence.  

6 3.03.040 Joint Use Remove reference to 
required number of spaces 

Delete third sentence.  

7 3.03.050(1) Off-
street req 

Remove the requirement 
for spaces to remain based 
on the number of spaces 
required by the code.   

Delete last sentence.  

8 3.03.050(2) Off-
street req 

Remove requirement for 
interpretation of uses when 
determining the number of 
spaces needed.   

Delete entirely.  

9 3.03.050(3) Off-
street req 

Remove requirement to use 
the sum of all uses to 
determine the number of 
spaces needed. 

Delete entirely. 

10 3.03.060(1) 
Parking 

This section includes table 
14 which is the table that 

This section is totally revised and 
the table deleted.  The section 

Page 19 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 4 of 28 

 
 

requirements states how many spaces 
are needed based on the 
use.   

will clarify that there are no 
specific number of spaces 
needed.  This will clarify that 
parking is allowed, but not 
required.   

11 3.03.060(2) Bike 
Parking  

This is currently based on a 
ratio of the required 
spaces. It has been revised.   

Require only 1 space for every 
business, then owner selects any 
additional.  

12 3.03.060(3) Max 
parking spaces 

This requires a ratio of 
parking space maximums 
based on a ratio of the 
required spaces. 

This is proposed to be deleted.  
OAR 660-012-0405(5) requires 
that cities add maximums but 
only in appropriate locations like 
downtowns, so this has not been 
added in this revision.   

13 3.24.015(5) RV 
Park standards 

Remove reference to 
required number of spaces. 

The first part of 5 requires 1.25 
spaces per RV.  Other State rules 
will still require a specific number 
of spaces.  This part of 5 is 
deleted.   

14 3.28.020(7) 
Caretakers units 

Remove reference to 
required number of spaces. 

Number 7 required 1 covered 
space per unit.  This has been 
deleted.   

Parking Regulation Improvements OAR 660-012-0405 
15 3.09.030(2)(c)  50% tree canopy coverage 

at 15 years on parking lots 
over ¼ acre 

Complies with OAR 405 (4)C.  
The OAR has specific provisions 
that are all addressed in the 
proposed text below. This is a 
new subsection c.  The existing c 
and d will be re-lettered to d 
and e.      

16 3.03.080(9) & (10) Pedestrian walkways & 
Preferential parking 

Adds requirements for 
pedestrian walkways through 
parking areas.  OAR Subsection 
(1)(a) requires that preferential 
parking spaces be required for 
carpool and vanpools. 

17 3.03.080(11) Redevelop parking areas OAR Subsection (1)(b) requires 
that the City allow owners to 
redevelop parking areas for 
specific things like bus shelters.  

Electrical Vehicle Charging OAR 660-012-0410 
18 3.03.080(12)  Add requirement for 40% of 

parking spaces to add 
conduit & space on MU 

Added requirement as a new 
standard for parking lots. 

Page 20 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 5 of 28 

 
 

and Multi Family. 
Traffic Impact Analysis 
19 3.02.120(2)a, b, 

and (3) 
Change to a VMT model for 
some cases. 

This implements OAR 660-012-
0210(3). 

Other Code Changes (not related CFEC) 
20 1.02.020  Revise Definition of Home 

Day Care and ADU’s. 
Alter the code to allow home 
day care for under 12 children 
ONLY if the homeowner lives in 
the house.  No vacant home 
may be used for child care. 
ADU’s revised to allow at 
duplexes.  

21 3.22.110 Nonconforming Uses- 
Clarify that property no 
longer retains any previous 
Land Use Approvals if the 
property remains vacant 
more than 1 year. 

DELETED from Code update 

 

22 Article IV Land Divisions  This section was almost 
exclusively catered to residential 
subdivisions.  This revision adds a 
new section specific to non-
residential subdivisions and 
clarifies where standards are 
specific to residential or non-
residential subdivisions/ 
partitions. 

23 3.16.010 ADUs Add clarity on garages for ADU’s 
and increases the maximum size 
of the ADU to whatever the 
Commission decides. The edits 
show a suggestion, but staff 
encourages the PC to discuss 
this further.  Deletes a duplicate 
standard.     

24 3.21.040 Farm and Livestock The Chicken section should 
read- ‘fowl’ not chickens.    
Prohibits exotic animals.  

25 3.02.030(9) Street Names Add more detail to Street 
Names section. 

26 3.26.030(2) Revisions to Commercial 
Office design standards 

A sentence has been deleted 
that required architectural 
features on walls that did not 
face a right-of-way.     

Page 21 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 6 of 28 

 
 

27 Chapter 2.13 & 
3.12.030 & 
5.01.030 

Historical Zoning Overlay This change adds several 
additional details to clarify how 
the overlay operates.   

28 4.02.060(1)j.ii Street Tree Clarifications Clarify that street trees are 
required, point to engineering 
street standards. 

29 3.12.030(7)&(8)  Manufactured home 
standards 

Revised the required roof pitch 
to conform with ORS 
197.314.6(a).  Clarifies that only 
one home and one ADU per lot 
is permitted.  

30 Chapter 3.15 RV Covers Revised to clarify that accessory 
structure rules apply to RV 
covers.  

31 4.02.030(4) Flag Lots Clarify setbacks for flag lots 
32 Figures 1/59, 28, 

60, and 63   
Figures Correct erroneous figures.   

33 Chapter 1.02, 
2.03.020, 2.04.020, 
2.05.020, and 
2.06.020 

SRO’s Adding new State requirements 
for Single Room Occupancy 

34 3.8.060(5) Clear Vision Area Clarifying that clear vision areas 
do not just apply to residential 
intersections but to all 
intersections and adding the 
ability for the City Engineer to 
make exceptions.    

35 2.10.050 Table 9 trail swap Correcting a typo about the trail 
on Old Salem. 

 
 

II. CRITERION 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG DEVELOPMENT CODE 

 

5.11.030  Decision Criteria. Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan or 
Development Code text shall be approved if the evidence can substantiate the 
following: 

 
(1) There are no negative impacts of the proposed amendment on land use and 
development patterns within the city, as measured by: 

a. Traffic generation and circulation patterns; 
b. Demand for public facilities and services; 

Page 22 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 7 of 28 

 
 

c. Level of park and recreation facilities; 
d. Economic activities; 
e. Protection and use of natural resources; and 
f. Compliance of the proposal with existing adopted special purpose 

plans or programs. 
 

 
ANALYSIS: Table 2 below contains an analysis for each of the text amendments 
proposed.  
 

Table 2 Criteria 1 Analysis 
 Section Analysis  

 
Remove all parking mandates OAR 660-012-0400(3) 
1 Change parking 

purpose section 
This change was intended to simply shift the 
purpose description for parking from ‘required 
areas’ to ‘required standards.’  As discussed 
above, if option A from the CFEC is selected, then 
the number of parking spaces can no longer be 
regulated.  This change should have no negative 
impacts on any of the areas listed in the criteria, a-
f.  Traffic should not be impacted by the number of 
parking spaces.  While the City would no longer 
dictate the number of parking spaces, the market 
will.  Parking areas, and the overall number of 
parking spaces for each use will likely remain the 
same that they would have been if the mandates 
stayed.  For example, a restaurant will want a 
certain number of parking spaces, likely calculated 
on peak dining hours.  Therefore, traffic levels 
should also stay the same.  If Millersburg had more 
shopping centers this may have a negligible 
impact, but because we are largely an industrial 
city, industrial users will assure they have the right 
number of spaces for their staff.  Public service 
levels should not change, nor will park usage 
because those are typically not dependent on the 
number of parking spaces.  Those are driven by the 
use, which is not changing.  It may have a benefit 
to the economy for Millersburg, as less restraints 

Page 23 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 8 of 28 

 
 

may spur additional building.  The change should 
have no impact on natural resources because 
none of the protections for these will change, only 
parking requirements. Lastly, the Comprehensive 
Plan and all of its implementing studies did not 
specifically discuss or regulate the number of 
parking spaces.  Therefore, this change does not 
implement or impact any provisions of the 
Comprehensive Plan or implementing studies.   
 

2 Delete the change of 
use exception 

Because use no longer dictates the number of 
parking spaces, the exception here, based on the 
use, is no longer required.  This change shares the 
same analysis as item 1 above. 
   

3 Add text to clarify that 
parking is not required 

This section was added to clarify that there are no 
mandates for the number of stalls based on the 
use.  This change shares the same analysis as item 1 
above. 
   

4 Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   
 

5 Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   
 

6 Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   
 

7 Remove the 
requirement for spaces 
to remain based on the 
number of spaces 
required by the code.   
 

This paragraph is proposed to be revised because it 
required that the proper number of parking stalls 
be constructed.  This shares the analysis from Item 
1.   

8 Remove requirement for 
interpretation of uses 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  

Page 24 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 9 of 28 

 
 

when determining the 
number of spaces 
needed.   
 

This shares the analysis from Item 1.   

9 Remove requirement to 
use the sum of all uses 
to determine the 
number of spaces 
needed. 
 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   

10 This is the table that 
states how many 
spaces are needed 
based on the use.   

This change deletes Table 14 which currently 
contains the minimum number of parking spaces 
per use.  This change shares the same analysis as 
item 1 above.  Clearly the State is assuming that 
waiving these mandates will result in developers 
building smaller parking lots.  By extension, they 
must assume that smaller lots will frustrate drivers 
into abandoning the use of a car and using a bike 
or walking instead; in other words, by making 
driving uncomfortable, they assume people will 
change habits.  This approach overlooks the fact 
that a business will likely not build a small parking lot 
and watch frustrated customers leave because 
they could not find a parking space.  The logic may 
work in dense areas in terms of residential uses.  An 
apartment user in a downtown may elect to forgo 
owning a car because they have nowhere to park 
(or parking is financially painful).  That also assumes 
their job is close enough to walk or bike to, which is 
rare.  Smaller lots may also result in more space for 
additional uses.   
This one-size-fits-all approach will probably not 
have that effect in Millersburg, or in most suburb 
cities for that matter.  Most homes are single-family 
homes here, which will continue to typically have 
enough parking for their residents.  Business will also 
likely build enough parking for customers to arrive in 
a car.  This proposed change will only remove the 
mandates.  Businesses can still build as many 
parking spaces as they think they will need.  

Page 25 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 10 of 28 

 
 

Industrial developments will also likely continue to 
provide enough parking for their staff, or they may 
suffer negative impacts from not having enough 
staff.  It is true that most of the industrial uses could 
be reached by bike-ride from within the City; 
however, most employees for these industrial 
businesses do not live in Millersburg2.  They 
commute from outside the City.  Therefore, Staff 
does not anticipate any negative impacts to 
traffic, facilities demand, park usage, the 
economy, resources or the implementation of 
special plans because parking is eliminated. This 
change will likely result in no significant changes to 
our unique City.    
 

11 Bike parking is currently 
based on a ratio of the 
required parking 
spaces.   

This section addresses bike parking.  Bike parking 
was based on how many car spaces were 
required, so this was revised.  This too will be 
ultimately driven by the market.  This requires at 
least one, and continues to require standards for 
bike parking spaces.  This will likely not result in any 
changes to the items listed in a-f in the criteria for 
similar reasons to those listed in item 1.   
 

12 This requires a ratio of 
parking space 
maximums based on a 
ratio of the required 
spaces 
 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   

13 Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1 and 10.   
 

14 Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

This sentence is proposed to be deleted because it 
addressed the required number of parking stalls.  
This shares the analysis from Item 1.   
 

Parking Regulation Improvements OAR 660-012-0405 
 

2 See the Housing Needs Analysis 

Page 26 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 11 of 28 

 
 

15 50% tree canopy 
coverage at 15 years on 
parking lots over 1/2 
acre 

The addition of this tree canopy requirement should 
have no negative impacts for the areas listed in a-f.  
This is a design feature, and should help reduce any 
heat-island effect, meaning the parking area will 
not absorb heat and retain the heat as much if the 
tree canopy is enlarged.  This kind of regulation has 
no relationship with the categories listed in the 
criteria.     
 

16 Preferential parking This change will add a small benefit to those 
choosing to use a carpool.  The actual impact of 
the change is anticipated to be minimal.  In theory 
this could reduce traffic.  The OAR requires this, 
specifically for parking areas over 50 spaces.  
Preferential parking will not have an impact on 
public facilities, park usage, the economy, natural 
resources or the implementation of the 
Comprehensive Plan or any special studies 
because Millersburg will probably not see very 
many parking areas of this size unless they are 
industrial.  
 

17 Redevelop parking 
areas 

This change is required by the State, but for a very 
small and specific purpose.  This calls for the City to 
allow the re-development of an existing parking 
area if it’s for a purpose that facilitates transit or 
bike use.  Staff expects this to have a very minimal 
impact on Millersburg because it is unlikely that the 
City will have any substantial transit use now or 
anytime soon because the City is predominantly 
single-family homes on rather large lots.  As such, 
this is not anticipated to have any negative effects 
on the categories listed in the criteria.   
 

Electrical Vehicle Charging OAR 660-012-0410 
18 Add requirement for 

40% of parking spaces 
to add conduit & space 
on MU and Multi Family 

This change was required by the State.  This may 
result in an increase in charging stations, though 
the provision will only require the construction of 
conduit.  An increase in charging stations may lead 
to an increase in electric cars, but those will still be 

Page 27 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 12 of 28 

 
 

a one-to-one replacement of cars that were 
already on the streets, so there should be no 
impact to traffic.  All other categories of possible 
impacts will be similar.  If a car is resulting in an 
impact today (in one of the identified categories), 
it will result in an impact if it was electric as well.  
This will result in no change at all to the categories 
listed in a-f.   
 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
19 Change to a VMT 

model for some cases 
This will change the way traffic studies are done, by 
changing the baseline from how long people wait 
at intersections to the total number of vehicle miles 
traveled (VMT) based on the use.  Studies will still 
follow a similar format though.  In a traffic study 
today, if the analysis finds there is an impact, that 
impact is mitigated.  The same will happen under 
the new regulations, but it will change the way the 
study is done.  Identified impacts will still be 
mitigated.  Therefore, this change also does not 
have any kind of relationship with the categories 
listed in the criteria and will have no negative 
impacts.  Additionally, the City can elect to require 
the identified mitigation, or forgo said mitigation.  
The State believes that this may ultimately lead to 
less traffic, because greater mitigation will be 
needed for greater VMT, which, they feel, should 
lead to business locating closer to the populations 
they serve.  
   

Other Code Changes (not related CFEC) 
20 Revise Definition of 

Home Day Care and 
ADU’s 

This revision ensures that ‘in-home’ day care takes 
place within someone’s home. This revision would 
prevent a person or company from using a house 
as a shell to operate a day care business (where no 
one actually lives).  The State currently see’s a crisis 
in the lack of needed child-care facilities.  While it is 
true that child-care should be located as close to 
residential areas as possible, the idea that a single-
family house could be used exclusively for any kind 

Page 28 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 13 of 28 

 
 

of business goes against the intent of the zone, 
which is to provide housing.  After all, housing is a 
crisis right now too.  The City does not want any 
home to be lost by allowing any business to 
supplant a housing unit.  To clarify, this change will 
not prohibit in-home day care, but it will require 
that someone lives in that home in order to use it for 
a business.  A home-based business is permitted in 
a residential zone, a standalone business is not.  
Residential areas are designed with specific 
residential uses in mind.  They are not designed to 
accommodate the kind of traffic, light, noise and 
other impacts that are typically associated with a 
businesses.  The number of in-home day care 
providers should not change, so there should be no 
impacts. 
The change to the Accessory Dwelling Unit 
definition simply allows them for duplexes to have 
ADU’s as well, consistent with State requirements. 
As such, these revisions should have no negative 
impacts on the categories listed in the criteria.   
The City has very few duplexes so the addition of 
an ADU should not add substantially to the traffic 
for the area.   
    

21 Nonconforming Uses- 
Clarify that property 
voids Land Use approval 
if vacant more than 1 
year 

This was removed from the update. 
 

22 Land Divisions  This revision is not proposing anything that will 
change the way these maps are processed, it just 
clarifies which rules apply to residential maps, and 
which rules apply to non-residential.  That was not 
clear before.   
None of these clarifications would impact any of 
the categories listed in the criteria.  The changes do 
not specifically address parks in proposed 
subdivisions.  Again, these are not new regulations, 
they do not permit anything that was not permitted 

Page 29 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 14 of 28 

 
 

previously.      
 

23 ADUs These changes will make it easier to build larger 
ADU’s (in some circumstances), which may 
encourage additional ADU development.  That 
may result in a slightly higher population count 
which may increase traffic slightly.  This change is 
consistent with, and implements, the 
Comprehensive Plan which calls for the 
encouragement of ADU’s as one portion of an 
address to the State’s claim of a housing crisis. 
While traffic may be slightly higher, it is called for in 
the Comprehensive Plan which is supported by 
special studies, including the Transportation System 
Plan (TSP).   
More residents will also trigger slightly higher 
demand for public services and utilities; however, 
ADU’s will be located where such services already 
exist.   
Likewise, park service levels would increase as the 
population increases.  ADU’s do still pay system 
development charges which is intended to offset 
the increase in population by providing funds to 
build more parks and infrastructure.   
The proposed change should not have a 
substantial impact on the economy shy of some 
increase in construction work.   
The regulations surrounding natural resources would 
not change, so this would have no impact on 
natural resources.  All natural resource regulations 
that apply to a single-family home would apply to 
an ADU as well.   
 

24 Farm and Livestock The prohibition of exotic animals has no relationship 
with any of the categories listed in the criteria.  
There should be no negative impacts. 
  

25 Street Names The revisions to this section only give the City veto 
rights to developer-proposed street names.  This 
change has no relationship to any of the 

Page 30 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 15 of 28 

 
 

categories listed in the criteria.   
 

26 Revisions to Commercial 
Office design standards 

This revision proposes to delete one standard 
concerning wall design features.  This change has 
no relationship to any of the categories listed in the 
criteria.   
 

27 Historical Zoning Overlay These revisions will change several aspects of the 
historical zoning overlay.  Many of these revisions 
are substantial in terms of how the Committee 
operates.  The City, however, does not have many 
historical structures or properties, and it is not 
anticipated that many others will be incorporated 
into the overlay zone.  We have no historical 
downtown.  As such this revision should not impact 
traffic in any way. Public services and park 
demand levels have no relationship to the structure 
of the committee or the rules they operate by.  The 
changes may help historic properties gain access 
to grants, which may slightly impact the economy, 
but for the better.  The rules do not alter the 
regulations regarding natural resources, so no 
impact is expected there.  Lastly, these revisions 
should help the overlay zone better comply with 
State Planning Goal 5 and the Comprehensive Plan 
provisions that implement Goal 5.  As such, there 
should be no negative impacts to any special plans 
or programs.     
 

28 Street Tree Clarifications This revision is adding details explaining where 
someone could go to find more information on 
street trees, specifically to the engineering 
standards.  As such, this revision has no relationship 
to the categories listed in the criteria.     
 

29 Manufactured home 
standards 

This revision proposes to add standards concerning 
roof slope to be consistent with State requirements 
and number of units allowed on a lot.  These 
changes have no relationship to any of the 
categories listed in the criteria.   

Page 31 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 16 of 28 

 
 

 
30 RV Covers RV covers are currently permitted, but they 

currently cannot be metal.  This would change 
that.  Metal RV covers cost considerably less than 
wood covers, so this should result in more RV covers 
in the City.  That will likely not result in more people 
buying RV’s.  With the number of RV’s not 
changing, the traffic patterns should not change.  
RV covers have no relationship with the demand 
for public services or park need.  The sales of new 
RV covers could be seen as a benefit to the 
economy.  There is no change to the requirements 
for RV covers within natural resource areas, thus the 
proposed change should not impact the 
protection of resources.  Lastly, though many 
citizens in the City think they should have a right to 
an RV pad, the Comprehensive Plan is actually 
silent on RV’s and RV covers.  There should be no 
impact to the Comprehensive Plan or any 
implementing studies.   
 

31 Flag Lots This change clarifies where the front setback should 
be taken from on a flag lot.  Traffic, public service 
and park demand, or the economy should not be 
impacted by the proposed revision, because this 
will not change the number of houses in the City, 
just where measurements are taken from on 
setbacks.  The setback clarification may have a 
relationship with the resource protection 
requirements, as an area designated for protection 
could be within a setback; however, setbacks were 
required previously.  It was not clear previously 
where those setbacks were required.  This change 
would not allow buildings in any resource area 
where they were not allowed previously.  The 
Comprehensive Plan and all implementing studies 
are silent on flag lots.   
 

32 Figures The changes to the figures simply correct 
misleading and erroneous information.  They did 

Page 32 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 17 of 28 

 
 

not change any regulations.  These changes have 
no relationship with the categories listed in the 
criteria.    
 

33 SRO’s These changes add an all new use to the 
residential zones, a single room occupancy (SRO).  
A homeowner can rent a single room to anyone, 
that does not make it a classifiable SRO.  To qualify 
as an SRO the homeowner must rent at least 4 
rooms.  This use is permitted now, pursuant to State 
Law, whether this change is made or not.  State law 
supersedes City laws.  Staff is proposing this change 
just to clarify for the reader of the Code what the 
use is, makes it clear that the use is legal (consistent 
with State Law) and explains where standards can 
be found.   
In order to address impacts, it must first be 
understood that the Housing Needs Assessment 
assumes that each home will have 2.75 people in 
each unit.  It is also assumed that a fair number of 
occupants will be children.  The concept behind an 
SRO is that the property owner rents rooms to 
adults.  Only 1 per room in at least 4 rooms (in order 
to be defined as an SRO).  Thus, any SRO assumes 
that the structure will have at least 4 people, which 
is higher than the 2.75 assumed in the Housing 
Needs Assessment.  Each SRO, then, will have a 
greater impact on the streets, infrastructure, utilities 
and parking than a standard home would based 
on the assumptions used in the studies.  It is highly 
probable that each tenant could have their own 
car.  The City has no transit option.  As such, a 
significant amount of SROs could result in an 
increase in traffic, utilities and park use.  The State is 
not allowing the City to require a Land Use review 
for new SROs, as such there is no way to mitigate 
any traffic increase that may result from a 
significant number of SRO’s.  Having that said, the 
City has included limitations, as the State permits, to 
a new SRO; however, negative impacts could 
result. 

Page 33 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 18 of 28 

 
 

It is also worth distinguishing- any homeowner is 
permitted to rent a single room to a single 
occupant.  There are no permits needed to do this.  
The same is true for renting two rooms.  It’s not until 
a homeowner rents 4 rooms that the status of the 
unit then shifts to what the State is calling an SRO.  
The primary reason for this State mandate is to 
prevent cities from prohibiting someone renting 4 or 
more rooms in a house.  Millersburg never had any 
such prohibitions.  Therefore, this State change will 
actually change nothing in the City of Millersburg.  
Adding the use to the Zones is only proposed to be 
sure it is clear that we are complying with the State 
requirements.     
It is not anticipated that SRO’s will become a 
popular option for homeowners in the City; 
therefore, it is not anticipated that there will be any 
negative impacts to traffic.  There is no way to 
know how popular the SRO option would get, so 
there is no way to know what impacts they may 
have on these categories.   
Because this is a State mandated requirement the 
satisfaction of the criteria has no impact on the 
City’s ability to approve or deny the changes.   
 

34 Clear Vision Area These revisions are addressing an error in the code.  
They are not altering the requirements.  These 
changes have no relationship with the categories 
listed in the criteria.    
 

35 Table 9 trail swap This revision is correcting an error in the code. This 
change has no relationship with the categories 
listed in the criteria.    
 

 
 

FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 
 

(2) A demonstrated need exists for the proposed amendment. 
 

Page 34 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 19 of 28 

 
 

ANALYSIS: Staff has been tracking many small revisions needed where 1) the 
Code did not fully address the City’s needs, 2) something was inadvertently left 
out, 3) the State has mandated changes, or 4) something was not as clear as it 
should have been. The need for the change is clear. These were all places 
where the Code was underperforming in some way and needed to be fixed. 
Staff decided to bring this Code update forward now for several reasons. Some 
of these changes are needed sooner than others. In general though, the 
change is proposed now because staff had amassed a large enough number 
of changes to justify the time needed to change the Code.   

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

 
(3) The proposed amendment complies with all applicable Statewide Planning 

Goals and Administrative Rule requirements. 
 
ANALYSIS: The State Planning Goals act as the foundation for Land Use planning 
in the State of Oregon. The Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) and Oregon 
Revised Statutes (ORS) help implement those Goals.  On a local level the State 
Goals are implemented by City Comprehensive Plans, and Comprehensive 
Plans are implemented by Zoning Codes.  When the current Development Code 
was adopted in 2020, it was found to be fully consistent with the State Goals and 
OARs and ORSs as well as the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The State has 19 Planning Goals.  Some do not apply to the City of Millersburg, 
these include Goal 4, Forest Land, Goal 17 Coastal Shorelands, Goal 18 Beaches 
and Dunes, and Goal 19 Ocean Resources.  Goals applicable to Millersburg 
include: 
 
Goal 1 Citizen Involvement Goal 10 Housing 

Goal 2 Land Use Planning Goal 11 Public Facilities and Services 

Goal 5 Natural Resources, Scenic 
and Historic Areas, and Open 
Spaces 

Goal 12 Transportation 

Goal 6 Air, Water and Land 
Resources Quality 

Goal 13 Energy Conservation 

Goal 7 Areas Subject to Natural 
Hazards 

Goal 14 Urbanization 

Goal 8 Recreational Needs Goal 16 Estuarine Resources 

Page 35 of 118

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-1.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-10.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-2.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-11.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-5.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-12.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-6.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-13.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-7.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-14.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-8.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-16.aspx


 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 20 of 28 

 
 

Goal 9 Economic Development  

 
Goal 1 is the Citizen involvement Goal.  The proposed Code update featured 
two workshops, both of which were open to the public and two planned public 
hearings where public testimony is permitted.  The Comprehensive Plan explains 
that Goal 1 is met using the public hearing process.  As such, all of the proposed 
Code revisions meet the requirements of Goal 1.   
 
Similarly, each of these proposed changes further implements Goal 2.  Goal 2 
requires that Cities have a process for Land Use actions, zoning, and that the 
City regularly re-review the processes to tweak and make revisions that better 
serve the community.  This change implements the very re-evaluation called for 
in Goal 2.  Each of the changes, then, implements Goal 2.  Additional analysis is 
also included in the table where appropriate.   
   
Table 3 below contains an analysis for each of the changes proposed as they 
relate to the remaining applicable State Planning Goals. 
 

Table 3 State Planning Goal Analysis 
 Section Analysis  

 
Remove all parking mandates OAR 660-012-0400(3) 
1-
14 

Change parking 
requirements 
throughout the code 
(this analysis is for items 
1-14 in the two tables 
above) 

Applicable goals for the proposed CFEC State 
Mandated Parking Code revisions would include 
Goal 2, Land Uses, Goal 6, Air, Water and Land 
Resources Quality, Goal 11, Public Facilities, and 
Goal 12, Transportation. 
 
Goal 2, Land Uses, apply because the revised 
parking rules help contribute to the Land Use 
process by removing some regulations for parking.  
Because these revisions will address the regulations 
for parking, this change is consistent with Goal 2.   
 
Goal 6, Air, Water and Land Resources Quality, 
apply as far as the State’s assumptions are 
concerned.  The premise behind the CFEC rules is 
the reduction of Greenhouse Gases.  The State 
feels that these measures will reduce vehicle 
emissions by making driving more difficult, 

Page 36 of 118

https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/OP/Pages/Goal-9.aspx


 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 21 of 28 

 
 

complicated, and painful.  Additionally, in theory, 
these rules will create more transportation options, 
which, the State feels, will reduce vehicle trips, and 
thus, vehicle emissions.  The State would certainly 
agree that these changes are consistent with, and 
implements, Goal 6.   
 
Goal 11, Public Facilities, and Goal 12, 
Transportation applies for the same reasons as Goal 
6.  In theory, this action will result in fewer vehicle 
trips, and thus less impact to streets, which are a 
public facility.  The State would also argue that the 
new rules provide/force additional transportation 
choices because there is an assumption that the 
new rules will result in fewer parking spaces, which 
will further result in people seeking alternative forms 
for transportation.  This is consistent with Goal 11 
and 12 because it will shift the emphasis from 
vehicle planning to other forms of transportation.   
 
The proposed new regulations are not inconsistent 
with any of the State Goals.     
 

Parking Regulation Improvements OAR 660-012-0405 
15 50% tree canopy 

coverage at 15 years on 
parking lots over ¼ acre 

This revision implements Goal 6, Air, Water and 
Land Resources Quality. 
 
Trees help prevent a process called a heat island 
effect, where the pavement absorbs heat through 
the day and then radiates that heat into the night.  
Naturally, trees also produce oxygen.  Both of these 
help reduce greenhouse gases.  This revision 
supports Goal 6.    
  

16 Preferential parking For the same reasons as those listed above for items 
1-14, the State would contend that this revision 
supports Goal 6, Air, Water and Land Resources 
Quality; Goal 11, Public Facilities; and Goal 12, 
Transportation.  By requiring Cities to incentivize 
ride-sharing there would, in theory, be fewer cars 

Page 37 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 22 of 28 

 
 

on the streets and beneficial effects on greenhouse 
gases which helps implement Goals 6, 11, and 12.  
  

17 Redevelop parking 
areas 

For the same reasons as those listed above for items 
1-14, the State would contend that this revision 
supports Goal 6, Air, Water and Land Resources 
Quality, Goal 11, Public Facilities, and Goal 12, 
Transportation.  By requiring Cities to permit parking 
to be removed in-lieu-of additional transit facilities, 
there would, in theory, be fewer cars on the streets 
and beneficial effects on greenhouse gases which 
helps implement Goals 6, 11, and 12. This would 
also result in few parking spaces which would 
cause a disincentive for those who elected to drive 
cars.  That disincentive may result in alternative 
transportation choices.   
 

 
18 Add requirement for 

40% of parking spaces 
to add conduit & space 
on MU and Multi Family 

This revision would implement Goal 6 Air, Water and 
Land Resources Quality, and Goal 13, Energy.  The 
State would argue that an increase in electric 
vehicles would have decrease in the production of 
GHG’s created by internal combustion engines.  
Adding a requirement for conduit to be built early 
in the construction process will help facilitate easier 
rollout of additional charging stations in the future.  
Millersburg does not have many mixed-use areas or 
multi-family projects, so this will not have a 
substantial effect in this City, but does help 
implement the Goal by attempting to reduce 
GHG’s.   
 
Goal 13 addresses the need to conserve all forms 
of energy.  The concept of using electric cars shifts 
the energy used from gasoline to electricity.  It is 
not clear if the long-term effects of electric vehicles 
will have the effect of reducing greenhouse gases, 
but the State’s assumption is that there will be a 
positive correlation between the two.      
 

Page 38 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 23 of 28 

 
 

 
19 Change to a VMT 

model for some cases 
This revision implements Goal 12, Transportation.  
This requires a different baseline for the analysis of 
vehicle use in traffic reports.   
 

 
20 Revise Definition of 

Home Day Care and 
ADU’s 

This revision implements Goal 10 because it 
preserves housing.  This revision prevents a business 
owner from using a single-family home for the 
exclusive purpose of day care.  The home, under 
this change, must first and foremost be used as a 
home, which preserves housing and implements 
Goal 10.     
 

21 Nonconforming Uses- 
Clarify that property 
vacates previous Land 
Uses if vacant more 
than 1 year 

This was removed from the update. 
 

22 Land Divisions  This clarification will implement Goal 2, Land Use, 
and Goal 9, Economy of the State.  The nexus to 
Goal 2 is clear enough, the current code seems to 
only look at land divisions (partitions and 
subdivisions) as if they were all residential divisions.  
There is nothing in the code specific to non-
residential land divisions, like industrial or 
commercial land divisions.  This better implements 
Goal 2 by clarifying a process for non-residential 
divisions as well.     
 
Goal 9 is implemented because an industrial or 
commercial user is far more inclined to invest in a 
property if the code is clear about the requirements 
for a land division on that property.   
 

23 ADUs This revision helps implement Goal 10, Housing.  This 
proposes to increase the minimum size of an ADU 
(in some circumstances) and clarifies that an 
attached garage is permitted (but counts as a 
separate accessory structure).  Increased flexibility 

Page 39 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 24 of 28 

 
 

in the regulations for ADU’s could spur additional 
ADU development.     
 

24 Farm and Livestock The State Goals do not directly apply to this 
change (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions).  This would prohibit 
exotic animals, which is not directly addressed in 
any of the State Goals.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

25 Street Names The State Goals do not directly apply to this 
change (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions).  This only gives the ability 
for the City to exercise more guidance over the 
naming of streets.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

26 Revisions to Commercial 
Office design standards 

The State Goals do not directly apply to this 
change (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions).  This changes one design 
standard for offices and commercial structures.  
This change alone is not significant enough to result 
in any impacts to the economy.  The proposed 
revisions are, therefore, not inconsistent with the 
Goals.   
 

27 Historical Zoning Overlay Applicable Goals for this revision include Goal 2, 
Land Use, and Goal 5, Open Spaces, Scenic and 
Historical Areas and Natural Resources.  This section 
is seeing a lot of proposed revisions.  All of them are 
intended to make the overlay process and function 
more in line with the rest of the processes in the 
Development Code.  As such, these help 
implement Goal 2 because they are making the 
process match the rest of the City processes.  
 
These changes also help implement Goal 5 
because it makes the overlay more implementable 
by making the Historic Committee a Commission, 
and by adding clarity where the current overlay is 

Page 40 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 25 of 28 

 
 

vague.   
 

28 Street Tree Clarifications The State Goals do not directly apply to this 
change (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions).  This revision strengthens 
something that was already required.  The change 
simply makes it easier for the reader of the Code to 
see where the tree standards are located.  The 
proposed revisions are, therefore, not inconsistent 
with the Goals.   
 

29 Manufactured home 
standards 

The State Goals do not directly apply to these 
changes (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions), though it could be seen 
to implement Goal 10, Housing.  This revision 
modifies some standards for Manufactured Homes.  
The change to the roof pitch brings our code in-line 
with the requirements of the Oregon Manufactured 
Home Specialty Code.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

30 RV Covers These changes address design requirements and 
have no relationship with any specific State Goal.  
The relaxed regulations may result in several new 
RV covers being built, but not enough to 
significantly impact the economy, or Goal 9.   
 

31 Flag Lots Zoning requirements are requirements that come 
directly from the designated zone for a site.  This 
change proposes to add clarity to the setback 
location requirements for flag lots.  This is 
challenging because flag lots have no direct 
relationship or frontage on a street.  This clarity will 
help the process for building and sitting a new 
home.  Goal 2 addresses the need for cities to have 
a clear process.  This revision, therefore, helps 
implement Goal 2. 
  

32 Figures The State Goals do not directly apply to these 
changes (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 

Page 41 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 26 of 28 

 
 

previously for all revisions), they are just correcting 
errors in the text.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

33 SRO’s Goal 10, Housing, applies to this revision because 
an SRO is a form of housing.  Goal 10 calls for a 
variety of different housing types.  The State has 
required all Cities to permit SRO’s in order to 
promote the least expensive form of housing 
available, the rental of a single room.  These are 
required to be permitted even if the Code remains 
silent on them.  Adding them as a permitted use 
simply avoids any confusion in the future.  This is 
consistent with Goal 10.   
   

34 Clear Vision Area The State Goals do not directly apply to these 
changes (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions), they are just correcting 
errors in the text.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

35 Table 9 trail swap The State Goals do not directly apply to these 
changes (except Goals 1 and 2 as mentioned 
previously for all revisions), they are just correcting 
errors in the text.  The proposed revisions are, 
therefore, not inconsistent with the Goals.   
 

 
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

 
(4) The amendment is appropriate as measured by at least one of the following 

criteria: 
a. It corrects identified error(s) in the provisions of the Plan. 
b. It represents a logical implementation of the Plan. 
c. It is mandated by changes in Federal, State, or local law. 
d. It is otherwise deemed by the City Council to be desirable, 

appropriate, and proper. 
 

ANALYSIS: There are 34 revisions proposed. The table below shows details 
explaining which changes relate to the specific criteria listed above.  

Page 42 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 27 of 28 

 
 

 
Table 4- Criteria 4 Analysis 
 Topic Analysis 
A 21, 27, 32, 34, 35 These revisions correct some kind of error 

identified in the Code. 
B 20, 22, 24, 25, 26, 

27, 28, 29, 30, 31  
These changes are proposed to better 
implement the Code.   

C 1-19, 33  Revisions mandated by State law. 
D 23 These changes are intended to better 

implement the direction of the City Council.  
  
FINDING: Based on the analysis above, the project meets the required criteria. 

III. ADDITIONAL FINDINGS 

The following additional findings are included for the record.   

• The City’s Housing Needs Analysis was not formally adopted by the City 
Council.  None of the proposed changes directly affect or impact housing 
development in the City, with the possible exception of the inclusion of 
SRO’s in all residential zones.  These are already required to be permitted by 
the State; adding them to the code just increases clarity on the subject.  The 
regulations on RV covers and ADU’s are typically employed in residential 
areas, but do not limit or restrict the development of housing in any way.   

• Based on staff’s analysis, all proposed amendments are fully consistent with 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan and serve to better implement the policies 
of the Plan because they add additional clarity, address errors, and employ 
standards that support policies in the Plan.  

• The recently revised CFEC rules require that Cities update their Development 
Codes.  However, the CFEC OAR’s include other requirements for Cities, 
outside of Code updates.  OAR 660-012-0405(2) specifically states “Cities 
and counties shall adopt policies for on street parking and land use 
regulations for off-street parking that allow and encourage the conversion 
of existing underused parking areas to other uses” [emphasis added].  City 
‘policies’ traditionally mean policies in the City Comprehensive Plan, and in 
this case by extension, the Transportation System Plan (TSP)3.  In 
acknowledgement of the OAR requirement, the City will revise the City 
policies next time any changes are proposed to either of those two 

 
3 The TSP is part of the Comprehensive Plan 

Page 43 of 118



 
DC 23-02 Code Update 
Staff Report – January 3, 2023 
 

  Page 28 of 28 

 
 

documents; however, to be clear, no changes are proposed through this 
staff report that would revise either of them.  This amendment is for the 
Development Code only.   

IV. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the above findings of fact, the proposed text Code amendment 
satisfies the applicable criteria. On January 2, 2024 the Planning Commission 
recommended that the City Council approve Application No. DC 23-02 and 
adopt Ordinance 210-24.  The Commission suggested some very minor edits that 
have been incorporated into the code update text that was included in the 
Council Packet (exhibit A).  

V. SUGGESTED MOTION FOR CITY COUNCIL 
I motion that the Council approve DC 23-02 and adopt Ordinance 210-24. 

 
VI. EXHIBITS 

A. Proposed text changes 
B. Ordinance No. 210-24 
C. Public Hearing Notice 

 
 
 

Page 44 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

 
DC 23-02 CODE UPDATE PROPOSED CHANGES  

(as of January 2, 2024 with PC updates) 
 

Code Update Summary Table  
 Section Topic Proposed Update 
CFEC proposed Code Updates 
Remove all parking mandates OAR 660-012-0400(3) 
1 3.03.010 Purpose Change parking purpose 

section 
Change provide ‘adequate 
areas’ for the parking to 
provide ‘standards’ for the 
parking. 

2 3.03.020(2) 
Scope 

Delete the change of use 
exception 

Delete subsection 2 which 
required changes of use to 
comply with stall number 
requirements.   

3 3.03.030 
Location 

Add text to clarify that 
parking is not required 

Add text “Any provided” 
before “off-street parking…” 

4 3.03.030(2) 
Location 

Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

Delete last sentence of the 
text.   

5 3.03.030(4) 
Location 

Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

Delete last sentence.  

6 3.03.040 Joint 
Use 

Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces 

Delete third sentence.  

7 3.03.050(1) Off-
street req 

Remove the requirement 
for spaces to remain 
based on the number of 
spaces required by the 
code.   

Delete last sentence.  

8 3.03.050(2) Off-
street req 

Remove requirement for 
interpretation of uses 
when determining the 
number of spaces 
needed.   

Delete entirely.  

9 3.03.050(3) Off-
street req 

Remove requirement to 
use the sum of all uses to 
determine the number of 
spaces needed. 

Delete entirely. 

10 3.03.060(1) 
Parking 
requirements 

This section includes 
table 14 which is the 
table that states how 

This section is totally revised 
and the table deleted.  The 
section will clarify that there 

These 
numbered 
changes 
are color 
coded to 
help the 
reader 
find the 
proposed 
edits 
below the 
table.   

Page 45 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

many spaces are 
needed based on the 
use.   

are no specific number of 
spaces needed.  This will 
clarify that parking is allowed, 
but not required.   

11 3.03.060(2) Bike 
Parking  

This is currently based on 
a ratio of the required 
spaces. It has been 
revised.   

Require only 1 space for 
every business, then owner 
selects any additional.  

12 3.03.060(3) Max 
parking spaces 

This requires a ratio of 
parking space maximums 
based on a ratio of the 
required spaces. 

This is proposed to be 
deleted.  OAR 660-012-
0405(5) requires that cities 
add maximums but only in 
appropriate locations like 
downtowns, so this has not 
been added in this revision.   

13 3.24.015(5) RV 
Park standards 

Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces. 

The first part of 5 requires 1.25 
spaces per RV.  Other State 
rules will still require a specific 
number of spaces.  This part 
of 5 is deleted.   

14 3.28.020(7) 
Caretakers units 

Remove reference to 
required number of 
spaces. 

Number 7 required 1 covered 
space per unit.  This has been 
deleted.   

Parking Regulation Improvements OAR 660-012-0405 
15 3.09.030(2)(c)  50% tree canopy 

coverage at 15 years on 
parking lots over ¼ acre 

Complies with OAR 405 (4)C.  
The OAR has specific 
provisions that are all 
addressed in the proposed 
text below. This is a new 
subsection c.  The existing c 
and d will be re-lettered to d 
and e.      

16 3.03.080(9) & 
(10) 

Pedestrian walkways & 
Preferential parking 

Adds requirements for 
pedestrian walkways through 
parking areas.  OAR 
Subsection (1)(a) requires 
that preferential parking 
spaces be required for 
carpool and vanpools. 

17 3.03.080(11) Redevelop parking areas OAR Subsection (1)(b) 
requires that the City allow 
owners to redevelop parking 
areas for specific things like 
bus shelters.  

Page 46 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Electrical Vehicle Charging OAR 660-012-0410 
18 3.03.080(12)  Add requirement for 40% 

of parking spaces to add 
conduit & space on MU 
and Multi Family. 

Added requirement as a new 
standard for parking lots. 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
19 3.02.120(2)a, b, 

and (3) 
Change to a VMT model 
for some cases. 

This implements OAR 660-012-
0210(3). 

Other Code Changes (not related CFEC) 
20 1.02.020  Revise Definition of Home 

Day Care and ADU’s. 
Alter the code to allow home 
day care for under 12 
children ONLY if the 
homeowner lives in the 
house.  No vacant home may 
be used for child care. ADU’s 
revised to allow at duplexes.  

21 3.22.110 Nonconforming Uses- 
Clarify that property no 
longer retains any 
previous Land Use 
Approvals if the property 
remains vacant more 
than 1 year. 

DELETED from Code update 
 

22 Article IV Land Divisions  This section was almost 
exclusively catered to 
residential subdivisions.  This 
revision adds a new section 
specific to non-residential 
subdivisions and clarifies 
where standards are specific 
to residential or non-
residential subdivisions/ 
partitions. 

23 3.16.010 ADUs Add clarity on garages for 
ADU’s and increases the 
maximum size of the ADU to 
whatever the Commission 
decides. The edits show a 
suggestion, but staff 
encourages the PC to discuss 
this further.  Deletes a 
duplicate standard.     

Page 47 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

24 3.21.040 Farm and Livestock The Chicken section should 
read- ‘fowl’ not chickens.    
Prohibits exotic animals.  

25 3.02.030(9) Street Names Add more detail to Street 
Names section. 

26 3.26.030(2) Revisions to Commercial 
Office design standards 

A sentence has been deleted 
that required architectural 
features on walls that did not 
face a right-of-way.     

27 Chapter 2.13 & 
3.12.030 & 
5.01.030 

Historical Zoning Overlay This change adds several 
additional details to clarify 
how the overlay operates.   

28 4.02.060(1)j.ii Street Tree Clarifications Clarify that street trees are 
required, point to engineering 
street standards. 

29 3.12.030(7)&(8)  Manufactured home 
standards 

Revised the required roof 
pitch to conform with ORS 
197.314.6(a).  Clarifies that 
only one home and one ADU 
per lot is permitted.  

30 Chapter 3.15 RV Covers Revised to clarify that 
accessory structure rules 
apply to RV covers.  

31 4.02.030(4) Flag Lots Clarify setbacks for flag lots 
32 Figures 1/59, 28, 

60, and 63   
Figures Correct erroneous figures.   

33 Chapter 1.02, 
2.03.020, 
2.04.020, 
2.05.020, and 
2.06.020 

SRO’s Adding new State 
requirements for Single Room 
Occupancy 

34 3.8.060(5) Clear Vision Area Clarifying that clear vision 
areas do not just apply to 
residential intersections but to 
all intersections, and adding 
the ability for the City 
Engineer to make exceptions.    

35 2.10.050 Table 9 trail swap Correcting a typo about the 
trail on Old Salem. 

 
  

Page 48 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Proposed Text Changes 
 

1-12, 16, 17, & 18 Parking section 3.03 
 
 

CHAPTER 3.03. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

3.03.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to provide adequate areas standards for the parking, 
maneuvering, loading, and unloading of vehicles for all land uses in the City of Millersburg.  

3.03.020 Scope. 

(1) Application. Except as modified or restricted elsewhere within this Code, the provisions 
of this Chapter shall apply to the following types of development:  

a. Any new building or structure erected after the effective date of this Code.  

b. The construction or provision of additional floor area, seating capacity, or other 
expansion of an existing building or structure.  

(2) Change of Use Exception. A change in the use of an existing building or 
structure to another use identified in the zone shall not require additional 
parking spaces or off-street loading areas, if according to the parking space 
requirements, the new use requires 150% of the same amount of parking as the 
prior use, or less.  

3.03.030 Location. 

Any provided Ooff-street parking and loading areas shall be provided on the same lot 
with the main building or structure or use except that:  

(1) Yards. Off-street parking areas may be located in a required yard setback for 
multi-family residential, commercial, and industrial uses with an approved 10-
foot landscaped buffer.  

(2) Residential. In residential zones, automobile parking for dwellings and other uses 
permitted in a residential zone may be located on another lot if such lot is 
within 200 feet of the lot containing the main building, structure, or use. In no 
case shall the parking requirements at the off-site location be reduced, unless 
otherwise approved as joint-use parking.  

(3) Parking. Driveways may be used for off-street parking for single-family and two-
family dwellings. No parking of vehicles, trailers, boats, or recreational vehicles 
shall be allowed in a front yard except on a driveway.  

(4) Non-Residential. In non-residential zones, parking may be located off the site of 
the main building, structure or use if it is within 500 feet of such site. In no case 
shall the parking requirements at the off-site location be reduced, unless 
otherwise approved as joint-use parking.  

Page 49 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

3.03.040 Joint Use. 

Parking area may be used for a loading area during those times when the parking area is 
not needed or used. Parking areas may be shared between uses where hours of operation 
or use are staggered such that peak demand periods do not occur simultaneously.  
Easements shall be used on shared parking areas to allow legal access for all parties 
involved.   The requirements of this Chapter may be reduced accordingly. Such joint use 
shall not be approved unless satisfactory evidence is presented which demonstrates the 
access and parking rights of all parties.  

3.03.050 General Provisions Off-Street Parking and Loading. 

(1) Parking Required. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking and 
loading space is a continuing obligation of the property owner. Any parking 
area that is shown on the land use site plan may remain as parking area 
dedicated to off street vehicle parking. Any changes to the approved vehicle 
parking would require site plan review for any new use proposed where parking 
was located on the previously approved site plan. No building permit shall be 
issued until plans are presented that show property that is and will remain 
available for exclusive use as off-street parking and loading space. The 
subsequent use of property for which the building permit is issued shall be 
conditional upon the unqualified continuance and availability of the amount of 
parking and loading space required by this Code.  

(2) Interpretation of Parking Requirements. Requirements for types of buildings and 
uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning Director 
based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed and expectations of 
parking and loading need.  

(3) Multiple Use Facilities. In the event several uses occupy a single structure or 
parcel of land, the total requirements for off-street parking shall be the sum of 
the requirements of the uses computed separately, unless a reduction is 
approved for shared parking pursuant to Section 3.03.040.  

(42) Storage Prohibited. Required Any area shown on the land use approval as 
dedicated off street parking spaces shall be available for the parking of 
operable passenger automobiles of residents, customers, patrons, and 
employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials. 
including the display of vehicles for sale. 

3.03.060 Off-Street Vehicle and Bicycle Parking Requirements. 

(1) Vehicle Parking Spaces. Provisions for Off-Street vehicle and bicycle parking 
shall comply with the following minimum requirements: Purpose. The purpose 
and intent of this section is to set forth the standards for the development of off-
street parking. There are no minimum or maximum number of parking stalls 
required for any use within the City, however, property owners must comply 
with all applicable state and federal accessibility requirements, including but 

Page 50 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). Parking is still permitted 
at the property owners’ discretion. The City encourages property owners to 
include adequate parking for each use.  It is the property owner’s responsibility 
to determine the correct amount of parking spaces needed for each use, if 
parking is to be included.  When parking is included, all parking development 
standards of this development code must be met.   

Table 14 Vehicle and Parking Space Requirements 
 

Vehicle and Bicycle Parking Space Requirements 
 Land Use Activity Vehicle Spaces Bicycle 

Spaces 
Measurement 

A.  1, 2, and 3 family 
dwellings  

2 spaces per dwelling 
unit  

0  None  

B.  Multi-family 
dwellings  
(4 or more units)  

Studio - 1 space/unit  
1—2 bedroom - 1.5 
spaces/unit  
3+ bedroom - 2 
spaces/unit  

0.25  Per dwelling 
unit  

C.  Hotel, motel, 
boarding house  

1 space per guest 
room plus 1 space for 
the owner or manager  

1  Per 20 guest 
rooms  

D.  Club, lodge  Spaces sufficient to 
meet the combined 
minimum requirements 
of the uses being 
conducted, such as 
hotel, restaurant, 
auditorium, etc.  

2  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

E.  Hospital, nursing 
home  

1 space per two beds 
and 1 space per 2 
employees  

0.5  Per five beds  

F.  Churches, 
auditorium, 
stadium, theater  

1 space per 4 seats or 
every 8 feet of bench 
length, or 36 sq. ft. of 
area w/o fixed seats  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

G.  Elementary, junior 
high school  

2 spaces per classroom  2  Per 
classroom  

H.  High school  1 space per classroom 
and one space per 
employee  

1  Per 
classroom  

I.  Bowling alley, 
skating rink, 
community center  

1 space per 100 sq. ft. 
plus 1 space per two 
employees  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

Page 51 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

J.  Retail store, except 
as provided in "K"  

1 space per 500 sq. ft. 
plus 1 space per 2 
employees  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

K.  Service or repair 
shop, retail store 
handling 
exclusively bulky 
merchandise such 
as automobiles or 
furniture  

1 space per 800 sq. ft. 
of gross floor area, plus 
1 space per 2 
employees  

1  Per 30 
vehicle 
spaces  

L.  Bank; office 
buildings; medical 
and dental clinic  

1 space per 400 sq. ft. 
of gross floor area, plus 
1 space per 2 
employees  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

M  Eating and drinking 
establishments 
including food 
pods  

Greater of 1 per 800 sq 
ft for carryout and 1 
per 200 for sit down of 
gross floor area  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

N.  Wholesale 
establishment  

1 space per 1,000 sq. ft. 
of gross floor area, plus 
1 space per 800 sq. ft. 
of retail area  

1  Per 30 
vehicle 
spaces  

O.  Municipal and 
governmental  

1 space per 800 sq. ft., 
plus 1 space per 2 
employees  

1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

P.  Manufacturing 
and processing:  

   

 0—24,900 sq. ft.  1 space per 600 sq. ft.  1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

 25,000—49,999 sq. 
ft.  

1 space per 700 sq. ft.  1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

 50,000—79,999 sq. 
ft.  

1 space per 800 sq. ft.  1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

 80,000—199,999 sq. 
ft.  

1 space per 1,000 sq. ft.  1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

 200,000 sq. ft. and 
over  

1 space per 2,000 sq. ft.  1  Per 20 
vehicle 
spaces  

Q.  Warehousing and 
storage 

   

Page 52 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

distribution, 
terminals  

 0—49,999 sq. ft.  1 space per 3,000 sq. ft.  1  Per 30 
vehicle 
spaces  

 50,000 sq. ft and 
over  

1 space per 5,000 sq. ft.  1  Per 30 
vehicle 
spaces  

 
(2) Bicycle Spaces. Bicycle parking development requirements  

a. Space Size. Each bicycle parking space shall be a minimum of six feet long and 
two feet wide and be accessible by a minimum five-foot aisle.  

b. Location. All bicycle parking shall be within 100 feet of a building entrance(s) 
and located within a well-lit area. Any long-term bicycle parking spaces shall 
be sheltered from precipitation.  

c. Standards.   

i. All bicycle spaces must include the ability to lock the bike in at least 2 
places or be within a lockable space only available to authorized users 
for staff bicycle parking areas. 

ii. The area must be well lit.   

iii. Be installed in a manner to allow space for the bicycle to be 
maneuvered to a position where it may be secured without conflicts from 
other parked bicycles, walls, or other obstructions. 

iv. Include sufficient space to accommodate large bicycles, including 
family and cargo bicycles. 

d.  Number of Bicycle Spaces.  

i. Every use shall include at least one marked and designated bicycle 
parking space.  All developments should include an adequate number 
of bicycle parking spaces, at the property owner’s discretion.  

ii. Multifamily developments and mixed unit developments with 5 or more 
residential units shall provide at least one secure space per dwelling unit.  
Said unit shall be covered and allow the ability to lock the bike in at least 
2 places or be within a lockable space only available to authorized users. 

iii. Transit Stations and park-and-ride lots shall provide a covered area 
capable of accommodating at least 5 bicycles with the ability to lock 
the bike in at least 2 places.   

(3) Maximum Vehicle Parking Spaces. The minimum spaces identified under item 
(1) in this Section, shall not be increased by more than 30%.  

Page 53 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

3.03.070 Off-Street Loading Requirements. 

Commercial or industrial buildings between 10,000 to 25,000 square feet in area shall 
require a loading space. One additional space shall be required for each additional 
25,000 square feet of gross floor area, or any portion thereof. The minimum loading space 
dimensions shall be 12 feet wide, 30 feet long, and 14 feet high.  

3.03.080 Parking, Driveway, and Loading Area Development Requirements. 

Where provided, all parking and loading areas shall be developed and maintained as 
follows:  

(1) Surfacing. All driveways (full length of the driveway), parking, and loading 
areas, for all uses including single-family residential (except in the RU Zone), shall 
have a durable hard surface of asphaltic cement, concrete pavers, concrete, 
or other concrete materials. Surface improvements shall conform to the 
following:  

a. Paving Improvements. Paving shall comply with adopted Engineering 
Standards of the City of Millersburg.  

b. Timing. Unless modified by a variance or a site development review, or 
bonded per City requirements, all driveways and off-street parking and 
loading areas shall be improved prior to occupancy of the primary structure.  

c. Surfacing Options for Industrial Zone. The City Engineer may allow the use of 
a graveled parking area in the industrial zones, provided all customer and 
employee parking areas are paved and provided surface drainage is 
addressed per Engineering Standards and at least 20-feet of each access 
driveway connecting with a public street is paved.  

(2) Parking Spaces. Parking spaces shall be a minimum 9-feet wide and 20-feet in 
length. Up to 20% of the parking area may contain "compact spaces" with 
dimensions of 8.5-feet in width and 18-feet in length.  

(3) Driveways. The following standards shall apply to all driveways:  

a. Access spacing shall be in compliance with Section 3.02.040 -Access 
Standards  

b. Internal Driveways for Multi-Family, Commercial, Industrial, and Public Uses.  
 

Table 15 Internal Driveway Requirements  
Internal Driveways for Multi-family, Industrial, and Public Uses 

Without Adjacent Parking 
 
Direction  Driveway 

Width  
  One-way  12 feet  
  Two-way  26 feet  
With Adjacent Parking 

Page 54 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Parking Angle  Driveway 
Width  

  0 to 40  12 feet*  
  41 to 45  13 feet*  
  46 to 55  15 feet*  
  56 to 70  18 feet*  
  71 to 90  24 feet  
*One-way only driveways  

 
(4) Lighting. Any light used to illuminate a parking or loading area shall be 

arranged to be directed entirely onto the loading or parking area, shall be 
deflected away from any residential use and shall not cast a glare or reflection 
onto moving vehicles on public rights-of-way.  

(5) Driveway Required. Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be so 
located and served by a driveway that their use will require no backing 
movements or maneuvering within a street right-of-way.  

(6) Traffic Safety. Service drives to off-street parking areas shall be designed and 
constructed to facilitate the flow of traffic, provide maximum safety of traffic 
access and egress, and the maximum safety of pedestrians and vehicular 
traffic on the site.  

(7) Curbing. Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a parking area shall be 
contained by a curb or a bumper rail at least 4" high, located a minimum of 
three feet from the property line, to prevent a motor vehicle from extending 
over an adjacent property or a street.  

(8) Landscaping.  

a. Parking lots abutting residential zones shall be screened from abutting 
residential zones by a combination of fences, walls, and landscaping 
adequate to screen lights, provide privacy and provide separation for the 
abutting residences.  

b. See Chapter 3.09 for additional landscaping requirements.  

(9) Pedestrian walkways within parking areas.  Walkways (also known as internal 
walkways or pedestrian paths) are designed to ensure that pedestrians can 
avoid using parking aisles or travel lanes for access to building entrances.  The 
intention is to assure that the building or buildings can easily be accessed by a 
pedestrian as well as a vehicle.  The following are standards for pedestrian 
walkways: 

a. New parking areas must provide pedestrian walkways between: 

i. building entrances; 

Page 55 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

ii. building entrances and  the main street sidewalks or pedestrian network; 

iii. existing or planned pedestrian facilities in the adjacent public rights-of-
way; 

iv. buildings and parking areas; 

v. building entrances on the same lot or business/shopping center; 

vi. multiple uses on the same lot; 

vii. building entrances and transit stops; 

viii. building entrances and accessible parking spaces;  

ix. between development on adjacent parcels where practical.   

b. Pedestrian access points must be connected to the larger pedestrian 
network in a manner that provides the earliest point of off-site pedestrian 
walkway contact, which may, or may not, be adjacent to the vehicular 
access point. 

c. Exceptions may be approved as part of a Design Review in the following 
circumstances:  

i. where new development is less than 2,000 square feet of gross floor area, 
features a landscaped front yard area and parking is located to the side 
or rear; 

ii. pedestrian connections to industrial uses are not required.  

d. The walkway must minimize conflict between pedestrians and traffic at all 
points of pedestrian access to on-site parking and building entrances. 

e. Pedestrian Walkway Design Standards: 

i. walkways internal to the site should be at least five (5) feet wide;  

ii. at a minimum, walkways within parking areas must be provided for every 
three (3) driving aisles or at distance of not more than 150-foot intervals, 
whichever is less;  

Page 56 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Figure 69 

iii. must be distinguishable from traffic lanes by painted markings, pavement 
material, texture, or raised in elevation; 

iv. must have adequate lighting for safety and security; 

v. barriers which limit pedestrian uses is not permitted. 

(10)  Car and Van Pool Parking.  Designated preferential employee parking areas 
are required for parking lots with more than 50 parking spaces.  Preferred 
parking areas shall provide parking for at least one carpool and at least one 
vanpool parking space. 

(11)  Redevelopment of Parking Areas.  

a. Property owners are permitted to redevelop any portion of existing off-
street parking areas for bicycle or transit facilities, including but not limited 
to bike racks, bus stops, and park and ride stations. 

b. The City may allow the development of underused parking areas for uses 
permitted in the applicable zone.  Underutilized shall mean any portion of 
the parking area that remains mostly vacant throughout most of the year 
(excluding special events or peak periods). A study shall accompany any 
request for site plan review Land Use applications.  The study shall 
demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the City, that the elimination of the 
existing parking will have no detrimental effects, that cannot be mitigated 
by the applicant, on the property or sounding properties.  This includes, but 
is not limited to, the possibility that the elimination of parking areas may shift 
the need for parking onto neighboring properties, or cause any other 
negative impacts to surrounding properties.   

(12)  Electric Vehicle Charging.  

a. New multi-family residential buildings with five or more residential dwelling 
units and new mixed-use buildings consisting of privately owned commercial 

Page 57 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

space and five or more residential dwelling units shall provide sufficient 
electrical service capacity, as defined in ORS 455.417, at no less than 40 
percent of all vehicle parking spaces on the site containing the residential 
dwelling units.   

b. Dwelling units in townhouses are not included for purposes of determining the 
applicability of this regulation.   

c. Any provided electrical infrastructure shall include all ADA parking spaces.   

d. Commercial development electrical vehicle charging requirements are 
dictated by the Oregon state building code and ORS 455.417.   

 
13 RV Parking Standards 

3.24.015 Standards. 

Approved RV parks shall comply with the State of Oregon Standards and the standards of 
this Section:  

(1) Where Permitted: RV Parks may be permitted in the Public Facilities Zone (PF) 
zone adjacent to a City Arterial Street in accordance with the Conditional Use 
procedures of Section 5.04.  

(2) Each RV space shall be not less than 1,000 square feet exclusive of any 
common park areas.  

(3) Roadways shall be paved and designed to permit easy access to each RV 
space. Road widths shall meet the requirements for local residential streets. All 
other design features shall meet fire apparatus access road requirements.  

(4) Each RV space shall be paved and designed to provide runoff of surface 
water. All unpaved areas shall be landscaped, and the Park shall be screened 
on all sides by a 6-foot-high sight-obscuring hedge or fence.  

(5) The total number of parking spaces in the Park shall be equal to 1.25 spaces 
per RV space. All provided passenger vehicle parking spaces shall be paved.  

(6) Each RV space shall be provided with electrical service, piped potable water, 
and sewage disposal service. All RVs with service connections staying in the 
Park shall be connected to these services.  

(7) The Park shall be maintained in a neat appearance at all times. There shall be 
no outside storage of materials or equipment. Trash receptacles shall be 
provided at convenient locations and in adequate number and capacity.  

(8) RVs are limited to a stay of no more than six months in any 12-month period.  

(9) The Park shall provide toilets, lavatories, and showers for each sex in ratios 
specified by the State of Oregon for each recreational vehicle space. The 
toilets and showers shall afford privacy, and the showers shall be provided with 

Page 58 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

private dressing rooms. Facilities for each sex shall be located in separate 
buildings, or, if in the same building, shall be separated by a soundproof wall.  

(10) The Park shall provide one utility building or room containing three clothes 
washing machines, one clothes drying machine, and 50 square feet of space 
for each 50 recreational vehicle spaces.  

(11) Public building spaces shall be lighted at all times of night and day; shall be 
ventilated; shall be provided with heating facilities which shall maintain a room 
temperature no lower than 65° F; shall have a floor of waterproof material; shall 
have sanitary ceiling, floor, and wall surfaces; and shall be provided with 
adequate floor drains to permit easy cleaning.  

 
14. Caretakers Units 

 

3.28.020 General Standards. 

Caretaker units may be allowed subject to a Conditional Use Permit in designated zones 
subject to the following standards:  

(1) Number allowed. Only one caretaker unit per lot shall be allowed.  

(2) Nature of structure. Caretakers units may be detached, attached (to a primary 
use structure, such as in storage units), or a HUD approved manufactured 
home. Use of a travel trailer is not permitted. Unless set on a ground level 
foundation, any manufactured home shall have skirting that in design, color, 
and texture appears to be an integral part of the adjacent exterior wall of the 
manufactured home.  

(3) Employment. The caretaker shall be employed principally on the lot for 
purposes of care and protection of persons, plants, animals, equipment, or 
other facilities on- site or on contiguous lots under the same ownership. 
Caretaker housing shall be allowed only where the principal commercial, 
industrial, or institutional use of the site involves operations, equipment or other 
resources that require 24-hour oversight.  

(4) Permitted Use. The caretaker unit shall be on a lot or building site with an 
approved, permitted use and occupied exclusively by a caretaker and his/her 
family.  

(5) Sewer. All caretakers' units shall be served by public sewer.  

(6) Floor Area. The maximum floor area for a caretaker unit shall be 1,200 square 
feet.  

(7) Parking. A minimum of one covered off-street parking space shall be provided 
for the caretaker unit.  

(8)(7) Rentals. The caretaker unit shall not be separately rented let, or leased to 
other than the caretaker whether compensation be direct or indirect.  

Page 59 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

(9)(8) Subdivisions. Subsequent subdivisions which divide a separate lot or parcel for 
a caretaker unit shall not be permitted.  

(10)(9) Deed Restrictions. The applicant shall record a deed restriction as a 
condition of project approval, stating that the caretaker unit shall not be 
rented to other than the caretaker.  

(11)(10) Ceasing of Operations - Modular or Portable Unit. Upon termination of 
the principal use, If the caretaker's unit was portable or a manufactured home, 
the structure shall be removed from the property within 90 days.  

(12)(11) Ceasing of Operations - Stick Built. Upon termination of the principal 
use, for any stick-built structure used for the caretaker's unit, the right to use the 
caretaker's unit as residential shall expire within 45 days. In the event that the 
caretaker's unit is vacant for a period of more than 45 days, the caretaker's use 
for that structure shall terminate. Any further use of the structure for caretaker's 
purposes will require a new action by the Planning Commission.  

 
15. Parking lot landscaping 

3.09.030 Standards. 

(2) Parking Lot Landscaping. The purpose of landscaping in parking lots is to provide 
shade, reduce stormwater runoff, and direct traffic. Incorporation of approved 
vegetated post-construction stormwater quality facilities in landscaped areas is 
encouraged. Parking lots must be landscaped in accordance with the following 
minimum standards:  

a. Planter Bays. Parking areas shall be divided into bays of not more than 12 
parking spaces. At both ends of each parking bay, there shall be curbed 
planters at least five feet wide, excluding the curb. Gaps in the curb may be 
allowed for connections to approved post-construction stormwater quality 
facilities. Each planter shall contain at least one canopy tree at least 10 feet 
high at time of planting and decorative ground cover containing at least two 
shrubs for every 100 square feet of landscape area. Neither planter bays nor 
their contents may impede access on required public sidewalks or paths, or 
handicapped-accessible parking spaces.  

b. Parking Space Buffers. Parking areas shall be separated from the exterior wall of 
a structure by pedestrian walkways or loading areas or by a five-foot strip of 
landscaping materials.  

c. Shade Coverage.  

i. All new parking areas over 1/2 acre, including all driveways and drive aisles, 
shall provide tree canopy covering at least 40 percent of the parking lot at 
maturity but no more than 15 years after planting.   

Page 60 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

ii. Trees must be planted and maintained to maximize their root health and 
chances for survival, including having ample high-quality soil, space for root 
growth, and reliable irrigation according to the needs of the species. 

iii. Landscape plans shall show the canopy coverage at 15 years maturity as 
part of any land use submittal.   

iv. A specific Tree Canopy Plan shall be included as part of the Landscape 
Plans which shall show the canopy coverage at 15 years maturity as part of 
any land use submittal.   

v. Development of a Tree Canopy Plan, to comply with the requirements of this 
section, shall be done in coordination with the local electric utility, including 
pre-design, design, building and maintenance phases.    

vi. As an alternative, the development may provide 30 percent tree canopy 
coverage over all new parking areas and installation of solar panels with a 
generation capacity of at least 0.5 kilowatt per new parking space.  Panels 
may be located anywhere on the property, including the roof of a structure.    

c. Alternate Plan. An alternate plan may be submitted as part of a Site Design 
Review application providing landscaping of at least 5% of the total parking 
area exclusive of required landscaped yard areas and that separates parking 
areas of more than 100 spaces into clusters divided by landscape strips. Each 
planter area shall contain one tree at least ten feet tall and decorative ground 
cover containing at least two shrubs for every 100 square feet of landscape 
area. Landscaping may not impede access on required public sidewalks or 
paths, or handicapped-accessible parking spaces.  

d. Landscape Protection. Required landscaped areas adjacent to graveled areas 
must be protected by large boulders or by another acceptable means of 
protection.  

(3) Irrigation of Required Landscaping. All required landscaped areas must be provided 
with an irrigation system unless a licensed landscape architect, landscape 
construction professional, or certified nurseryman submits written verification that the 
proposed plants do not require irrigation. Irrigation systems installed in the public right-
of-way require an encroachment permit.  

(4) Identification of Existing Trees. In all proposed developments, existing trees over 25 
inches in circumference (eight inches in diameter) as measured 4.5 feet above mean 
ground level from the base of the trunk shall be noted on all development plans, with 
notations indicating whether they are to be removed or utilized in the development. 
To obtain the circumference of a tree with multiple trunks, add the individual trunk 
circumferences, which are greater than six inches in circumference. Clusters of trees in 
open space and floodplain areas may be noted in approximate locations. No trees 
6.5 feet in circumference (approximately 25 inches in diameter) or greater may be 
removed without a permit per Millersburg Municipal Code Section 7.30.040.  

 

Page 61 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

19. Traffic Impact Analysis 

3.02.120 Traffic Impact Analysis. 

The purpose of this subsection is to coordinate the review of land use applications with 
roadway authorities and to implement Section 660-012-0045(2)(e) of the state 
Transportation Planning Rule, which requires the City to adopt a process to apply 
conditions to development proposals in order to minimize impacts and protect 
transportation facilities. The following provisions also establish when a proposal must be 
reviewed for potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted 
with a development application in order to determine whether conditions are needed to 
minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities; the required contents of a Traffic 
Impact Analysis; and who is qualified to prepare the analysis.  

(1) When a Traffic Impact Analysis is Required. The City or other road authority with 
jurisdiction may require a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) as part of an application for 
development, a change in use, or a change in access. A TIA shall be required 
where a change of use or a development would involve one or more of the 
following:  

a. A change in zoning or a plan amendment designation;  
b. Operational or safety concerns documented in writing by a road authority;  
c. An increase in site traffic volume generation by 300 Average Daily Trips (ADT) or 

more;  
d. An increase in peak hour volume of a particular movement to and from a street 

or highway by 20 percent or more;  
e. An increase in the use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000-

pound gross vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or more per day;  
f. Existing or proposed approaches or access connections that do not meet 

minimum spacing or sight distance requirements or are located where vehicles 
entering or leaving the property are restricted, or such vehicles are likely to 
queue or hesitate at an approach or access connection, creating a safety 
hazard;  

g. A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety concerns; or  
h. A TIA required by ODOT pursuant to OAR 734-051.  

(2) Traffic Impact Analysis Preparation.  

a. When required by the City, A a professional engineer registered by the State of 
Oregon, in accordance with the requirements of the road authority, shall 
prepare the Traffic Impact Analysis. 

b. Pursuant to OAR 660-012-0210 for amendments to the TSP, the Comprehensive 
Plan, a land use regulation, including zone map changes, except expansions of 
an urban growth boundary as provided in OAR 660-024-0020(1) or OAR 660-
0038-0020(13), the model used in the study must account for changes in vehicle 
miles traveled per capita that would result from the proposal and any 
transportation projects proposed as a part of the proposal.   

Page 62 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

c. A traffic study produced for substandard access (see 3.02.120.1.f) shall clearly 
demonstrate that the proposed access will be safe, include any mitigation 
required to make the proposed access safe, and assure that the level of service 
for neighboring intersections and access driveways will perform at grade level d 
or better.   

(3) Findings required.  In addition to an analysis of level-of-service, pursuant to OAR 
660-012-0210, any traffic study for a case type listed in (2)b, or any code 
regulations in the Development Code or Municipal Code, shall include an 
analysis using vehicle miles traveled.  

a. The study shall include an analysis of the proposed increase in vehicle miles 
traveled per capita.   

b. Any identified impacts shall include a review of possible mitigation.    

c. The Planning Commission or City Council shall consider the impacts on a case-
by-case basis.  Unmitigable impacts alone need not be a reason for denial of 
the project, unless the impacts result in an inconsistency with the Land Use 
criteria for the project.  The findings must clarify the identified impacts and any 
reasons why the project was approved in spite of them.    

 
20. Definition for Home Day Care and ADU’s 

 
1.02.020 - Definitions. 

 
Day Care Facility. An institution, establishment, or place, appropriately licensed by the 
State of Oregon and not a part of a public-school system, in which are commonly 
received three or more children for the purpose of being given board, care, or training 
apart from their parents or guardians for compensation or reward. All day care facilities in 
residential zones must be home occupations and therefore owner occupied.   
 
Accessory Dwelling Unit. An interior, attached, or detached residential structure that is 
used in connection with, or that is accessory to, a single-family dwelling or duplex. 

 
21. Use expires after 1 year of vacancy 

 
DELETED from Code update 

 
22. Commercial Land Divisions Clarity 

 

Page 63 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

CHAPTER 4.02. STANDARDS 

4.02.020 Scope. 

The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to all partitions and subdivisions within the 
City of Millersburg. The following shall determine the appropriate process and design 
standards:  

(1) Partition. A land division creating two or three parcels within a calendar year 
shall be processed as a Partition and subject to the design and improvement 
standards for a Partition.  

(2) Subdivision. A land division creating four or more lots within a calendar year 
shall be processed as a Subdivision and subject to the design and 
improvement standards for a Subdivision.  

(3) Serial Partition. If a Partition results in the creation of a large parcel that can 
be subsequently divided so that there is the potential to create more than 
three parcels from the original, the request shall be subject to the criteria, 
standards, design, and improvement standards for a Subdivision.  

(4) Some standards listed below pertain specifically to residential or non-
residential (typically commercial and industrial).  If the standard does not 
state that it is specific to one or the other, then it is applicable to all land 
divisions.  Maps for mixed use projects shall be treated like a non-residential 
map.   

 
4.02.030 Standards for Lots or Parcels. 

 
The following standards shall apply to all Partitions and Subdivisions.  

(1) Minimum Lot Area. Minimum lot area shall conform to the requirements of the 
zoning district in which the parcel is located. Access easements, or the access 
strip to a flag lot, shall not be included in the calculation of lot area for 
purposes of determining compliance with any minimum lot size provision of 
this Code.  

(2) Lot Width and Depth. The depth of a lot or parcel shall not be more than 
three times the width. Lots or parcels created for commercial, industrial, or 
public uses shall be exempt from width to depth ratio provisions.  

(3) Access.  

a. All new lots or parcels for commercial, industrial, or public uses must 
provide at a minimum either street frontage wide enough for a 
driveway, or a private access easement may be used to access 
parcels or lots.  The following also apply: 

Page 64 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

i. All private access easements must be at least 25 feet wide unless 
they are part of a parking lot, then parking lot standards apply, or in 
accordance with the Oregon Fire Code.   

ii. If a building on the lot or parcel is to be available to the public, it 
must also provide pedestrian access to that structure, except where 
a private access easement is outside City boundaries.    

b. Lots created as part of a shopping or industrial center must include a 
private reciprocal access easement in areas required for access.  
Building setbacks to the permitter of the center apply, but there no 
setback requirements internal to the center regardless of the proposed 
lot layout.  Proposed lots or parcels may be coterminous with the 
building footprint, for example, a grocery store could be on a lot that is 
the same size as the store’s building.   

c. All new residential lots or parcels shall provide a minimum of 40 feet of 
frontage on an existing or proposed public street, or 25 feet of frontage 
along a cul-de-sac except residential lots or parcels may be accessed 
by a private street or private access easement developed in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 3.02.040 and 4.02.030(4) 
when it is determined that a public street access is:  

a.i Infeasible due to parcel shape, terrain, or location of existing 
structures; and  

b.ii Unnecessary to provide for the future development of adjoining 
property.  

c.iii No more than 10% of the lots within a subdivision may be 
accessed by a private street or private access easement.  

(4) Flag Lots. Flag lots shall be subject to the following development standards:  

a. The access strip shall be a minimum of 25 feet in width. The improved 
surface shall be a minimum of 14 feet in width.  

b. The access strip shall not be included in the lot area calculation.  

c. If the length of the access strip exceeds 150 feet, the parcel or lot shall 
include a turn-around area per Section 3.02.  

(5) Residential Through Lots.  

a. Through lots shall be avoided except where essential to provide 
separation of residential development from traffic arteries, adjacent 
non-residential activities, or to overcome specific disadvantages of 
topography.  

b. Conditions of approval may be added limiting access from any street.   

c. Screening or buffering, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 3.07, may 
be required during the review of the land division request.  

Page 65 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

(6) Lot Side Lines. The side lines of lots, as far as practicable, shall run at right 
angles to the public street, private street, or private access easement upon 
which the lot or parcel faces.  

(7) Utility Easements. Utility easements shall be provided on lot areas where 
necessary to accommodate public utilities. Easement width shall conform to 
adopted Engineering Standards.  

(8) Re-Division. When subdividing or partitioning into large lots which may be re-
subdivided, the City shall require that the design of the lots be of a size and 
shape to allow for the subsequent division of any parcel into lots of smaller size 
and the creation and extension of future streets.  Shadow plats may be 
required. A shadow plat shows the proposed lot design does not preclude 
future division by showing a fully subdivided plan.  The plan is not binding, it 
just shows that the current design does not preclude future divisions.  This does 
not apply to industrial or public subdivisions or partitions but does apply to 
residential and commercial.  

(9) Remainder areas. When subdividing or partitioning property, any area within 
the tentative/final plat that is not proposed to be part of a lot, parcel, or tract 
is a remainder area. Tracts must serve a function. Any such remainder area 
must meet the minimum requirements of this Code, including any 
requirements by the zone such as lot size or the requirement to connect to 
public water and/or sanitary sewer.  

(10) Lot Averaging. Lot averaging is not permitted. All lots must meet the minimum 
lot size requirements of the zone.  

(11) Phased Development. 

a. The Approval Authority may approve a time schedule for developing a 
subdivision in phases, but in no case shall the actual construction time 
period for any phase be greater than two years without reapplying for 
a tentative plat. All phasing must be approved with the entitlement. 
Phasing proposed after entitlement approval requires a project 
modification regulated by Section 5.16.060.  

b. The criteria for approving a phased subdivision (in addition to all 
standard subdivision criteria) review proposal are:  
I. The public facilities shall be scheduled to be constructed in 

conjunction with or prior to each phase to ensure provision of 
public facilities prior to building occupancy;  

II. The development and occupancy of any phase shall not be 
dependent on the use of temporary public facilities:  
1. For purposes of this subsection, a temporary public facility is 

an interim facility not constructed to the applicable City or 
district standard; and  

2. The phased development shall not result in requiring the 
City or other property owners to construct public facilities 

Page 66 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

that were required as a part of the approval of the 
preliminary plat.  

c. The application for phased development approval shall be reviewed 
concurrently with the preliminary plat application and the decision may 
be appealed in the same manner as the preliminary plat.  

4.02.040 Additional Standards for Subdivisions. 

(1) General. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with regard 
to providing adequate building sites for the use contemplated; consideration 
of needs for convenient access, circulation, control, and safety of street traffic 
- including pedestrian and bicyclist - and recognition of limitations and 
opportunities of topography.  

(2) Residential Block Sizes. Blocks shall not exceed 1,000 feet in between street 
lines with a preferred length of 500 feet. Exceptions are permitted for blocks 
adjacent to arterial streets, or if the previous development pattern or 
topographical conditions justify a greater length. The recommended 
minimum distance between collector street intersections with arterial streets is 
1,800 feet.  

(3) Residential Traffic Circulation. The A residential subdivision shall be laid out to 
provide safe, convenient, and direct vehicle, bicycle, and pedestrian access 
to nearby residential areas; neighborhood activity centers (e.g., schools and 
parks); shopping areas; and employment centers; and provide safe, 
convenient, and direct traffic circulation. At a minimum, "nearby" means the 
distance from the subdivision boundary - 1/4 mile for pedestrians and one mile 
for bicyclists.  

(4) Residential Connectivity. To achieve the objective in (3) Traffic Circulation 
above, the City shall require the following in residential subdivisions:  

a. Stub-End Streets: Where the potential exists for additional residential 
development on adjacent property.  

b. Accessways: Public accessways to provide a safe, efficient, and direct 
connection to cul-de-sac streets, to pass through oddly shaped or 
blocks longer than 600-feet, to provide for networks of public paths 
creating access to nearby residential areas, neighborhood activity 
centers (e.g., schools and parks); shopping areas; and employment 
centers.  

(5) Collector and Arterial Connections. Accessway, bikeway, or sidewalk 
connections with adjoining Arterial and Collector streets shall be provided in 
residential subdivisions if any portion of the site's arterial or collector street 
frontage is over 600 feet from either a subdivision access street or other 
accessway. The placement of an accessway may be modified or eliminated 
if natural features (e.g., adverse topography, streams, wetlands) preclude 
such a connection.  

Page 67 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

(6) Design Standards for Residential Pedestrian/Bicycle Accessways at the ends 
of cul-de-sacs. Pedestrian/bicycle accessways at the ends of cul-de-sacs shall 
meet the following design standards: 

a. Minimum dedicated width: 15 feet  

b. Minimum improved width: 12 feet  

c. Pedestrian scale lighting fixtures shall be provided along walkways and 
adequately lighted so the system can be used at night. Lighting shall 
either conform to adopted Public Works Standards or be approved by 
the decision authority.  

d. The accessway shall be designed to prohibit vehicle traffic.  

 
23. ADU’s 

 
CHAPTER 3.16. SPECIAL RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS 

3.16.010 Accessory Dwelling Units. 

Where permitted as a special use, an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) shall meet the 
following use and development standards:  

(1) Location. An ADU may be located on any lot with a single-family home or 
duplex. The ADU shall be located within the side or rear yard and physically 
separated from the primary residence by a minimum distance of six feet. A 
covered walkway, which contains no habitable space, may connect the two 
buildings without violation of the setback requirements. An ADU may also be 
located internal to the primary structure, including, but not limited to, an attic 
or a basement.  

(2) Number. Only one ADU shall be permitted per lot or parcel.  

(3) Design. The ADU must have the same roof pitch and material, color, and 
siding material as the primary residence. As an alternative, an applicant who 
wishes to use a design that differs from these requirements may apply for a 
conditional use permit. In the case of an ADU proposed to have material, 
color, and siding material better in terms of quality than the existing residence, 
the Planning Director may authorize the material, color, and siding material as 
part of the Building Permit process.  

(4) Area. The floor area of the ADU shall be no more than 650 square feet and 
not less than 250 square feet. An additional 100 square feet of floor space 
may be granted for every 1,000 square feet of lot size over 11,000 square feet, 
however, in no case shall an accessory dwelling unit exceed 900 square feet.   

(5) Setbacks. Shall be in accordance with Section 3.15.010.  

(6) Height. The maximum height shall be 20 feet for detached ADUs. Attached 
ADUs shall use the height limit from the underlying zone. Two-story ADUs are 

Page 68 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

not permitted though an ADU can be placed over an accessory structure 
such as a workshop or a garage, in which case the height limit is that of the 
underlying zone.  

(7) Lot Coverage. The ADU shall be included in the lot coverage calculation.  

(8) Metal shipping containers. Metal shipping containers converted into dwelling 
units are not permitted.  

(9) Foundation. All structures shall be placed on a continuous foundation similar 
to the foundation used for the primary home.  

(10) Parking. No additional off-street parking is required for an ADU.  

(11) Lot Coverage. The ADU shall be included in the lot coverage calculation. 
Garages.  Any garage used for the ADU is permitted, but not required.  The 
garage can be attached or detached from the ADU.  The garage does not 
count toward the maximum square footage allowed for the ADU.  The garage 
an accessory structure; see Chapter 3.15.  No garage is permitted to be 
converted to habitable space for an ADU or otherwise.     

 
24. Farm and Livestock 

 

3.21.040 Farm Uses and Livestock. 

(3) Chickens Fowl and Rabbits. The keeping of chickens fowl or rabbits in all 
residential zones may be approved subject to the following provisions.  

a. The minimum property size is 10,000 square feet.  
b. No person shall …  
 

(4) Other than standard household pets including, but not limited to, dogs, 
cats, birds, guinea pigs, hamsters, ferrets, and smaller reptiles, any animal 
not listed in subsection (2) and (3) above is not permitted.  No exotic 
animals are permitted.  Swine of any kind are not permitted.    

(4) (5) Stands selling produce or eggs produced on-site are permitted subject to 
the following standards:  

a. The stand is no more than 200 square feet in size.  
b. The stand may not be located in the right-of-way or block a 

driveway.  
 

25. Street Names 
 

Page 69 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

3.02.030 General Provisions. 

(9) Street Names. Street names and numbers shall conform to the established 
pattern in the City. The applicant for a partition or subdivision that creates 
new streets that are not listed in the Transportation System Plan shall propose 
street names.  The City Manager has authority to approve or deny proposed 
street names.    

 
26. Commercial Design Standards 

 

3.26.030 Commercial Design Standards. 

(2) Walls that can be viewed from adjacent public streets including Interstate 5 
shall be designed with windows totaling a minimum of 10% of the wall area 
and using architectural features and landscaping (abutting the building) for 
at least 50% of the wall length. Other walls shall incorporate architectural 
features and landscaping for at least 30% of the wall length.  

 
27. Historical Zoning Overlay 

 
 

CHAPTER 2.13. HISTORICAL PROPERTY OVERLAY ZONE (HPO) 

2.13.040 Historic Landmark Committee Commission. 

There is hereby established a Millersburg Historic Landmark Committee Commission 
charged with carrying out the functions of this chapter where identified.  

The City Council appoints the Planning Commission as the Millersburg Historic 
Commission Committee until such time as Council determines the need for an 
independent Historic Landmark Committee Commission. The Committee 
Commission will meet and operate in accordance with all standards of local and 
state law. When the Planning Commission is serving as the Committee Historic 
Commission, it shall meet separately from a Planning Commission meeting with an 
independent agenda, meeting notice, and minutes. This can occur on the same 
night as a Planning Commission meeting, preceding or following the Commission 
meeting.  

2.13.050 Landmark and Historic Zone Designation. 

(1) Process. The process for designating a landmark or historic zone may be initiated 
by the Council, the Planning Commission acting as the Historic Landmark 
Committee Commission, or by any interested person who submits an application 
for designation to the Community Development Director City Recorder. At the 
time of application, the City shall provide the property owner and applicant 
with information regarding the benefits and restrictions of designation. A 

Page 70 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

landmark can be located within a Historic Zone Overlay, however, a landmark 
alone cannot be designated historical.  This section allows the application of a 
Historic Zone Overlay to a specific property.  A significant historic resource is any 
building or other aspect of a property that contributes to the historic significance 
of the property for which a Historic Zone Overlay is applied.  The process is a 
Type IV, consistent with the requirements outlined in Chapter 5.10 including all 
notification requirements therein except a permit shall be approved by the 
Historic Commission acting as the reviewing body in place of the Planning 
Commission.  The criteria from Chapter 5.10.050 do not apply, the criteria listed 
in 2.13.050 shall be used instead. 

(2) Information. Unless proposed by the City, The the following information shall be 
required in an application:  

a. The applicant's name and address;  

b. The owner's name and address, if different from the applicant;  

c. A written description of the boundaries of the proposed zone or the location 
of the proposed zone landmark;  

d. A map illustrating the boundaries of the proposed zone or and the location 
of any significant resource on the property the proposed landmark;  

e. A statement explaining the following:  

i. The reason(s) why the proposed zone or landmark should be designated;  
ii. The reason(s) why the boundaries of the proposed zone are appropriate 

for designation;  
iii. The potential impact, if any, the designation of the proposed zone or 

landmark would have on the residents or other property owners in the 
area.  

f. Any other information deemed necessary by the City.  

(3) Application Review and Decision. The City Recorder shall set the application on 
the agenda of the Historic Landmark Committee Commission which will review 
the application against applicable criteria in Section 2.13.050(4) and develop a 
recommendation to the City Council. This will occur within 60 days of the 
application being filed unless extended by the request of the applicant. 
Following the Historic Landmark Committee's consideration, the City Recorder 
will set the matter on a Council agenda within 45 days of the Historic Landmark 
Committee's action. The Council shall hold a public hearing at which time 
testimony will be received with the recommendation from the Historic Landmark 
Committee Commission, and the applicant, and any citizens wishing to give 
input. The Council shall make a written record with findings approving, 
approving with conditions, disapproving, or postponing final action on the 
request.  

Page 71 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

(4) Decision Criteria. The Historic Landmark Committee Commission and the Council 
shall consider the following criteria in determining whether to approve a 
proposed landmark or Overlay Zone Designation zone:  

a. Association with the life or activities of a person, group, organization, or 
institution that has made a significant contribution to the City, county, state, 
or nation;  

b. Association with an event that has made a significant contribution to the 
City, county, state, or nation;  

c. Association with broad patterns of political, economic, or industrial history in 
the City, county, state, or nation;  

d. Significance as an example of a particular architectural style, building type, 
and/or convention;  

e. Significance due to quality of composition, detailing, and/or craftsmanship;  

f. Significance as an example of a particular material and/or method of 
construction;  

g. Significance because the resource retains its original design features, 
materials, and/or character;  

h. Significance as the only remaining, or one of the few remaining resources of 
a particular style, building type, design, material, or method of construction;  

i. Significance as a visual landmark;  

j. Significance because existing land-use surrounding the resource contribute 
to the integrity of the historic period represented;  

k. Significance because the resource contributes to the continuity or historic 
character of the street, neighborhood, and/or community;  

l. Significance because the property is 50 years old or older in conjunction 
with other criteria listed above;.  

m. The resource is listed on the National Register of Historic Places.  

(5) Removal of Designation. The process for removing a landmark or historic zone 
designation may be initiated by the Council, the Historic Landmark Committee 
Commission, or by any interested person who submits to the City Recorder 
Community Development Director an application for removal of the 
designation. The Council may amend or rescind its designation by following 
procedures required by this Code in subsection (1) for designating a Historic 
Zone Overlay landmark., Criteria for such an action includes: 

a. Except as provided in subsection (a), a local government may only remove 
a resource from the resource list if the circumstances in paragraphs (i), (ii), or 
(iii) exist. 

Page 72 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

i.  The resource has lost the qualities for which it was originally 
recognized; 

ii.  Additional information shows that the resource no longer satisfies the 
criteria for recognition as a historic resource or did not satisfy the 
criteria for recognition as a historic resource at time of listing; 

iii. The local building official declares that the resource poses a clear 
and immediate hazard to public safety and must be demolished to 
abate the unsafe condition. 

b. The decision must be consist with ORS 660-023-0200(9). including the 
adoption of appropriate findings.  

(6) Appeals. Any appeal goes through the Land Use Board of Appeals.   

(7) Refusal. Pursuant to ORS 660-023-0200(6)b a property owner is allowed to refuse 
a designation of their property any time during the designation process. 

2.13.060 Demolition and Moving. 

(1) City Manager Historic Commission Approval. No person shall move, demolish, or 
cause to be demolished a landmark or a significant resource in an historic zone, 
unless a Historical Demolition and Moving permit to do so has first been obtained 
from the City Manager, or designee, following of approval by the City Council. 
Application for a Historical Demolition and Moving permit shall be on a form 
provided by the City.  

(2) Alternative Actions. At the time a demolition or moving application is made the 
City Manager or designee Community Development Director shall review 
alternatives to demolition or moving with the owner of the structure or resource, 
including local, state, and federal preservation programs, prior to the Historic 
Commission review and action. 

(3) Review Process. An application to move, demolish, or cause to be demolished a 
landmark or a significant resource in an historic zone shall be processed in 
accordance of with the procedure identified in Section 2.13.050(3) above. 
Chapter 5.05, including all noticing requirements, except a permit shall be 
approved by the Historic Commission acting as the reviewing body in place of 
the Planning Commission and the criteria from Chapter 5.05.060 do not apply. 

(4) Decision Criteria. In determining whether the requested demolition or moving is 
appropriate, the Historic Landmark Committee Commission and the City Council 
shall consider the following:  

a. Plans, drawings, and photographs submitted by the applicant.  

b. Information presented at the public hearing concerning the proposal.  

c. The purpose of this Code as set forth in this Chapter.  

d. The criteria used in the original designation of the resource.  

Page 73 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

e. If within an historic zone, the resource's contribution to the zone and the 
subsequent integrity of the zone if the resource is demolished or moved.  

f. Whether denial of the request will involve substantial hardship to the 
applicant.  

g. Whether issuance of the permit would act to the substantial detriment of the 
public welfare and be contrary to the purpose and scope of this Code.  

h. The economic, social, environmental and energy consequences of 
demolishing or moving the resource compared to preserving it.  

i. The physical condition of the resource.  

j. The recommendation from the Historic Landmarks Committee.  

(5) Postponement. The Historic Landmarks Committee Commission, acting in 
accordance with the review outlined in subsection (4) or the City Council may 
postpone taking final action on a request for issuance of a demolition or moving 
permit for a period fixed by the Committee Commission or Council as follows:  

a. No more than 60 days following the date of a public hearing. Further 
postponements may be made for a period not to exceed a total of 120 
days from the date of hearing, if the Committee Commission or Council 
makes the findings specified in item (b) of this Subsection.  

b. Further postponements as stated above may only be made if the 
Committee Commission or Council finds:  

i. There is a program or project underway that could result in public or 
private acquisition of any significant the landmark or resource; and  

ii. There is a reasonable ground for believing the program or project may be 
successful.  

c. After granting a further postponement, the Commission may order the the 
Community Development Director may City Manager to issue the permit if it 
the Commission finds:  

i. All programs or projects to save the resource have been unsuccessful;  
ii. The application for demolition or moving has not been withdrawn; and  
iii. The application otherwise complies with City Codes and state law.  

(6) Additional Requirements. During a period of postponement, the Committee 
Commission or Council may require the property owner to:  

a. List the resource for sale with a real estate agent for a period of not less than 
90 days. The real estate agent shall advertise the resource in local and state 
newspapers of general circulation in the area for a minimum of 10 days over 
a 5-week period.  

b. Give public notice by posting the hearing notice on-site in addition to a "For 
Sale" sign which shall read: HISTORIC BUILDING TO BE MOVED OR 
DEMOLISHED - FOR SALE. Lettering on the sign shall be at least one foot in 

Page 74 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

height. The sign shall be provided by the City and be posted in a prominent 
and conspicuous place within ten feet of a public street abutting the 
premises on which the resource is located. The applicant is responsible for 
assuring that the sign is posted for a continuous 90-day period in conjunction 
with a. above.  

c. Prepare and make available any information related to the history and sale 
of the property to all individuals, organizations, and agencies who inquire.  

d. Assure that the owner has not rejected the highest bona fide offer for sale 
and removal of the resource.  

(7) Press Notification. Prior to issuance of a demolition permit, the Community 
Development Director City Manager shall issue a press release to local and state 
newspapers of general circulation in the county. The press release shall include, 
but not limited to, a description of the significance of the resource, the reasons 
for the proposed demolition or removal, and possible options for preserving the 
resource.  

(8) Permit Conditions. As a condition for approval of a demolition permit, the 
Council Historic Commission may:  

a. Require photographic documentation, preparation of architectural 
drawings, and other graphic data or history as it deems necessary to 
preserve an accurate record of the resource.  

b. Require that specific artifacts, materials, or equipment be protected and 
saved. The owner may keep all such materials. The applicant shall be 
provided with a list of persons capable of salvaging the resource.  

(9) Dangerous Building. This Code shall not be construed to make it unlawful for any 
person, without prior approval of the Council City, to comply with an order by 
an authority having jurisdiction to remove or demolish any landmark significant 
resource determined to be dangerous to life, health, or property.  

(10) Appeals.  Any appeal follows the appeal process outlined in Table 5.01.030 and 
Section 5.22.020 

2.13.070 Exterior Alteration and New Construction. 

(1) Scope. No person shall alter a landmark or any significant resource in an historic 
zone nor shall any new building or structure be constructed in an historic zone or 
on a landmark site unless approval is first obtained under this section. In addition, 
no major public improvements shall be made on a landmark site or in an historic 
zone unless approved by the Community Development Director City Manager 
or Historic Landmark Committee Commission as provided below in subsections 3 
and 4.     

(2) Application Process. Application for alteration of a landmark significant resource 
or new construction in an historic zone or on a landmark site shall be made to 

Page 75 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

the Community Development Director City Manager. The application shall be 
on a form provided by the City.  

(3) Approval Requirements. The City Manager Community Development Director 
shall approve the alteration request if:  

a. There is no change in the appearance or material of the resource as it exists; 
or  

b. The proposed alteration duplicates or restores the affected exterior features 
and materials as determined from historic photographs, original building 
plans, or other evidence of original features or materials.  

(4) Historic Landmark Committee Commission Action. If a request for alteration does 
not meet the provisions of Subsection (3) of this Section, the City Manager 
Community Development Director shall forward the application to the Historic 
Landmark Committee Commission which shall process the request consistent 
with the provisions outlined in Chapter 5.05, except the Historic Commission 
acting as the reviewing body in place of the Planning Commission.  Only criteria 
outlined in subsection (5) below shall apply.  The Committee Commission, after 
notice and public hearing, shall approve or disapprove issuance of the 
requested permit. The Committee Commission may attach conditions to the 
approval which must be adhered to for the approval to remain valid.  

(5) Decision Criteria. The Committee Commission shall consider the following criteria 
in determining whether to approve an alteration request:  

a. The purpose of this Code.  

b. The use of the resource, the reasonableness of the proposed alteration, and 
the relationship of these factors to the public interest in the preservation of 
the resource.  

c. The value and significance of the resource.  

d. The physical condition of the resource.  

e. The effect of requested changes related to the original exterior design, 
arrangement, proportion, detail, scale, color, texture, and/or materials.  

f. Pertinent aesthetic factors as identified by the Committee Commission.  

g. Economic, social, environmental, and energy consequences of the 
proposed alteration.  

h. Any design guidelines adopted by the Commission.  

(6) Appeals.  Any appeal follows the appeal process outlined in Table 5.01.030 and 
Section 5.22.020 

 
 

3.12.030 - General Standards - Manufactured Homes. 

Page 76 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

 
(6) Historical sites. No manufactured home shall be located on property 

containing a historic significant resource or Historic Zoning Overlay 
landmark, or on a lot or parcel immediately adjacent to property 
containing a historic landmark. For the purpose of this Chapter, a 
historic landmark is property designated by the Millersburg 
Comprehensive Plan as containing a significant historical resource. 

 
 

5.01.030 Table of Land Use Application Procedures. 

Table 22 Land Use Application Procedures  
Land Use Application Procedures 

Land Use 
Action 

Type Staff Planning/Historic 
Commission 

City Council 

Floodplain 
Development 
Permit  

Type - I  Final Decision  No Role  No Role  

Property 
Boundary 
Adjustment  

Type - I  Final Decision  No role  No role  

Sign Permit  Type - I  Final Decision  No role  No role  
Temporary Use  Type - I  Final Decision  No role  No role  
Adjustment  Type - II  Final Decision 

unless appealed  
Appeal - Staff 
Decision  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Interpretations  Type - II  Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - Staff 
Decision  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Partition  Type - II  Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - Staff 
Decision  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Subdivision  Type - II  Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - Staff 
Decision  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Conditional 
Use  
Permits  

Type - III  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Home 
Occupation 
(employees or 
vehicles)  

Type - III  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Nonconforming 
Uses (Alteration 
or Expansion)  

Type - III  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Site 
Development  
Review  

Type - III  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Page 77 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Variance  Type - III  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Final Decision 
unless appealed  

Appeal - 
Commission 
Decision  

Annexation  Type - IV  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

Comp. Plan 
Map 
Amendment  

Type - IV  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

Text 
Amendment  

Type - IV  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

Zone Map 
Amendment  

Type - IV  Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

Historic Zone 
Designation 

Type- IV Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

Historic 
Demolition and 
Moving 

Type- III Recommendation  
to Commission 

Final Decision 
unless appealed 

Appeal –
Commission 
Decision 

Historic Exterior 
Alteration and 
New 
Construction 

Type- III Recommendation  
to Commission 

Final Decision 
unless appealed 

Appeal –
Commission 
Decision 

Street 
Vacations 

Type- IV Recommendation  
to Commission  

Recommendation  
to Council  

Final Decision 
unless 
appealed  

 
 

28. Street Tree Clarification   

4.02.060 Improvement Requirements - Subdivision. 

(1) Improvements. The following improvements shall be required for all 
Subdivisions:  

j. Other Requirements:  

i. Curb cuts and driveway installations are not required of the 
developer at the time of development, but if installed, shall be 
according to the City standards.  

ii. Street trees are required pursuant to City engineering standards.  
All trees are to be planted prior to final occupancy of a structure 
or when required of the developer for areas where buildable lots 
do not exist (common space, open space, detention basins, 
etc.). Planting of street trees shall be according to City 
requirements and of a species compatible with the width of the 
planting strip and underground facilities. At least one tree will be 
located in the planting strip unless infeasible due to required 
sight clearances and/or offsets from utilities. No tree shall be 

Page 78 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

located in the planting strip within 10 feet of a water or sewer 
service line. An additional tree shall be planted either in the 
planting strip or yard adjacent to the street or streets. Trees must 
be planted and viable prior to occupancy.  

 
29. Manufactured Home Standards   

3.12.030 General Standards - Manufactured Homes. 

Manufactured homes are permitted in all residential zones, in accordance with the 
following general standards, and the design standards set forth in Section 3.12.020. 
The minimum lot area, setback, and height standards of the subject zone shall also 
apply to manufactured homes sited on individual lots.  

(7) Roofing. The manufactured home must have a composition asphalt, 
fiberglass, shake, or tile roof with a nominal pitch of four three feet in height 
for each twelve 12 feet in width. 

(8) Exterior siding and finish. The exterior siding of the manufactured home must 
have the same appearance as materials commonly used on residential 
dwellings.  

(11) Only one manufactured home and one Accessory Dwelling Unit is allowed 
per lot.  

 
30. RV Cover clarification   

3.15.010 Single-family Residences. 

Residential accessory structures for attached or detached single-family homes and 
duplexes, excluding Accessory Dwelling Units as defined in Chapter 3.16, shall 
comply with all requirements for a principal structure, except where specifically 
modified by this section. Accessory structures shall not be used for human habitation 
except as specified in this section. Accessory structures shall comply with the 
following standards:  

(1) Dimensions and Design Requirements. Residential accessory structures shall be 
subject to the following requirements:  

Table 17 Residential Accessory Structures Standards  
Residential Accessory Structures Standards 

Structure Size 
(1) 

Exterior 
Finish 

Location on 
Property 

Setbacks (side 
and rear) 

Maximum 
Height* 

Up to 200 sf  No 
Requirements  

Side or Rear 
Yard  

1 story - 5 feet  
2 stories 8 feet  

10 feet  

200 to 1,200 sf  (2)  Side or Rear 
Yard  

1 story - 5 feet  
2 stories 8 feet  

25 feet  

Page 79 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

Over 1,200 sf  (2)  Side or Rear 
Yard  

1 story - 5 feet  
2 stories 8 feet  

25 feet  

* Measured from the midpoint of the roof  
Notes:  
 1. Up to 11,000 square feet of lot size, maximum accessory structure size is 1,200 
square feet; over 11,000 square feet of lot size, the structure may be increased 
an additional 100 square feet for each 1,000 square feet of lot size.  
 2. For any accessory structure located on a lot of 2.5 acres or less, the exterior 
siding and roofing shall have the same general materials and color as the 
primary dwelling. Otherwise, there are no restrictions.  
 3. Total lot coverage standards as required per zone also apply to all accessory 
structures, including those not requiring a building permit.  
4. RV covers or carports are considered accessory structures if they are over 200 

square feet. 
 

(2) Setbacks. Accessory structures shall comply with the following setbacks:  
a. Front and/or Street Side Yard: Comply with requirements of underlying 

zone.  
b. Side Yard: see table.  
c. Rear Yard: see table.  
d. Accessory structures shall be detached from all other buildings by at least 

six feet unless a variance is approved.  
(3) Multiple Accessory Structures. There shall be no limit to the number of 

structures, provided the structures in combination comply with the area 
coverage requirements. When there is more than one accessory structure 
within a yard, all provisions in this Chapter shall apply and shall be based on 
the total square footage of all accessory structures within the yard.  

(4) Prohibited Structures. The use of metal shipping containers or semi-truck 
trailers as an accessory structure shall be prohibited.  

(5) Sales. No sales shall be made from an accessory structure unless it has been 
approved as a Home Occupation under the conditional use provisions of 
Article V and the home occupation standards of Article III.  

(6) Standards for RV covers and carports. 
a. Materials. Covers may be made from any building material including 

metal. 
b. Setbacks. All accessory structure setbacks apply.  Setbacks will be 

taken from the eves of the roofline, not the structure uprights.   
c. The RV cover or carport has no setback requirement from the primary 

structure (house) and may even be connected to the primary 
structure.   

d. Colors. The primary color of any metal roofing material must be neutral 
(earth tones) or be similar to the color, or accent color, of the primary 
structure.   

Page 80 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

e. Height. The maximum height of an RV cover is 20 feet, unless the 
cover is setback at least 20 feet from any property line, then the 
height limit from the zone applies.   

(67) Exceptions.  
a. Farm accessory buildings in the Rural Residential zones on lots over 2.5 

acres are exempt from the size requirements.  
b. Accessory structures under 200 square feet do not require a Building 

Permit.  
c. Boats, trailers, detached campers, recreational vehicles, fifth-wheelers, 

motorized dwellings, travel trailers, tent trailers, tents, and similar 
recreational facilities may be stored, but not used for continuous 
human habitation. Temporary habitation is limited to 30 consecutive 
days or a total of 60 days in a 12-month period within the City limits. The 
City Manager may grant an extension upon receiving a written 
justification in accordance with Section 3.17. 

 
31. Flag Lot Setback clarification   
 

4.02.030 Standards for Lots or Parcels. 

(4) Flag Lots. Flag lots shall be subject to the following development standards:  

a. The access strip shall be a minimum of 25 feet in width. The improved 
surface shall be a minimum of 14 feet in width.  

b. The access strip shall not be included in the lot area calculation.  

c. If the length of the access strip exceeds 150 feet, the parcel or lot shall 
include a turn-around area per Section 3.02.  

d.  All flag parcels or lots shall comply with setback requirements of the Zone, 
however because the parcel or lot does not front a street, the designation 
of where the front setback applies shall be determined on a case-by-case 
basis by the Community Development Director.  The rear setback shall be 
on the opposite side of the structure from the front.  Side setbacks shall 
apply anywhere the front and rear do not apply.  

 
32. Figures 1/59, 28, 60, and 63   
 
Current figure Proposed revised figure 
Figure 1 & 59 

Page 81 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

  
Figure 28 

  
Figure 60 

  
Figure 63 

Page 82 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

 

 

 
  

Page 83 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

33. SRO’s   
 
CHAPTER 1.02. DEFINITIONS 

1.02.020 Definitions. 

Single Room Occupancy (SRO). A primary residential structure with no fewer 
than four attached SRO Dwelling units.  The primary residential structure must 
provide access for all occupants to a location for food preparation (shared or 
unshared), and sanitary facilities, or both. 

SRO unit. A single, independently lockable living and sleeping room for rent and 
exclusive use by a single occupant in a primary residential structure with access to a 
food preparation area and restrooms.   

 

CHAPTER 2.03. - RESIDENTIAL LOW-DENSITY ZONE (RL) 
2.03.020 - Permitted Uses. 
(7)  Single Room Occupancy (SRO) rental units, to the extent permitted under 

State law.   

 
CHAPTER 2.04. - RURAL ZONE (RU) 
2.04.020 - Permitted Uses. 
(7)  Single Room Occupancy (SRO) rental units, to the extent permitted under 

State law.   

 

CHAPTER 2.05. – RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM ZONE (RM) 
2.05.020 - Permitted Uses. 
(8)  Single Room Occupancy (SRO) rental units, to the extent permitted under 

State law.   

 

CHAPTER 2.06. – MIXED-USE ZONE (RM) 
2.06.020 - Permitted Uses. 
(17)  Single Room Occupancy (SRO) rental units, to the extent permitted under 

State law.   

 

34. Clear Vision Clarification 

Page 84 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

3.08.060 Vision Clearance. 

(5) Corner Lots (Street-Street Intersection). The clear visions area for corner lots on 
local residential streets shall be measured along the curb line (or edge of pavement 
if no curb) as shown in Table 16 below (unless otherwise determined by the City 
Engineer).  

Table 16 Street-Street Intersection Vision Clearance Dimensions  
Vision Clearance Dimensions  
Intersected Street Classification  Posted Speed  Distance  
Local Residential  All  20 feet  
Collector or Arterial  25 mph  95 feet  
 30 mph  120 feet  
 35 mph  140 feet  
 40 mph  165 feet  
 45 mph  190 feet  
 50 mph  215 feet  

 

35. Trail revision on Table 9   

2.10.050 Dimensional Standards. 

Unless otherwise permitted in this Code, the following minimum dimensional 
standards shall be required for all development in the GI zone:  

 Table 9 GI Zone Dimensional Standards  
GI Zone Dimensional Standards  
Minimum Lot Area   
 All Development  Sufficient to meet setbacks and 

development requirements  
Minimum Setbacks   
 All Yards  0 feet  
Yards Adjacent to RM, RL, 
and RU Zones  

10 feet + 5 feet per story  

Yards Adjacent to Conser 
Road  

30 feet + 5 feet per story  

Yards Adjacent to Old 
Salem Road  

10 feet south of the Murder Creek 
undercrossing. North of the Murder Creek 
undercrossing, 10 20 feet on the west side 
and 20 10 feet on the east side 
incorporating trail as identified in the most 
currently adopted Transportation System 
Plan  

Maximum Structure Height   

Page 85 of 118



 
4868-4293-8766, v. 2 

 Principal and Accessory 
building  

No limit  

Maximum Lot Coverage  100%  
 

Page 86 of 118



ORDINANCE NO. 210-24 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MILLERSBURG LAND USE 
DEVELOPMENT CODE BY REVISING SECTIONS 1.02, 2.10, 2.13, 3.02, 3.03, 3.08, 
3.12, 3.15, 3.16, 3.21, 3.24, 3.26, 3.28, 4.02, 5.01, and ADDING NEW SECTIONS TO 
2.03, 2.04, 2.05, 2.06, 3.02, 3.03, 3.09, 3.12, 3.15, AND 4.02 OF THE MILLERSBURG 
LAND USE DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg in October of 2020 adopted an all-new Land Use 
Development Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the adopted Land Use Development Code contained instances where the 
Code did not fully address the City’s needs, items were inadvertently excluded, or need 
clarification; and, 
 
WHEREAS, these amendments to the Millersburg Land Use Code will address 34 such 
instances including 19 changes required by the State’s Climate Friendly and Equitable 
Communities (CFEC) mandates, a revised definition for day cares and ADUs, clarity for 
commercial land divisions, additional clarity for ADU development standards, additions to 
the farm and livestock section to correct typos and prohibit exotic animals, clarification on 
naming streets, additional revisions to the commercial design guidelines, revisions to the 
historic zoning overlay section, adding clarification regarding street trees, adding details 
to the standards for manufactured homes, clarifying standards for RV covers, clarifying 
setbacks for flag lots, correcting several erroneous figures, adding new state requirements 
for single room occupancies, clarifying details for clear vision areas, and correcting a typo 
regarding trail locations; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) received 
hearing notice at least thirty-five days in advance of the hearing on January 2, 2024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing notice was posted in the Albany-Corvallis newspaper; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a Measure 56 notice was sent to every property owner in the City of 
Millersburg on December 11, 2023; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a hearing notice was posted in City Hall, on the Millersburg Website, and 
emailed to all parties who signed up for hearing notifications; and, 
 
WHEREAS, on January 2, 2024, the Millersburg Planning Commission recommended the 
Millersburg City Council approve amendments; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Millersburg Planning Commission and City Council reviewed all 
findings in the January 4, 2024, Planning Commission Staff Report, and determined that 
the project meets all criteria requirements from Section 5.11 of the Millersburg Land Use 
Development Code; 

Page 87 of 118



  
NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG DO 
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  
 
The Millersburg City Council adopts all findings from the January 3, 2024, Staff Report, 
and finds that the project meets all criteria requirements from Section 5.11 of the 
Millersburg Land Use Development Code; and, 
 
FURTHERMORE, the Millersburg Land Use Development Code sections 1.02.020, 2.10.050 
table 9, 2.13.040, 3.02.030(9), 3.03.010, 3.03.020(2), 3.03.030, 3.03.030(2), 3.03.030(4), 
3.03.040, 3.03.050(1), 3.03.050(2), 3.03.050(3), 3.03.050(4),  3.03.060(1), 3.03.060(2), 
3.03.060(3), 3.08.060(5), 3.03.080, 3.12.030(6), 3.12.030(7), 3.12.030(8), 3.15.010 table 
17, 3.16.010(4), 3.16.010(11), 3.21.040(3), 3.24.015(5), 3.26.030(2), 3.28.020(7),  
4.02.030, 4.02.030(5), 4.02.030(8), 4.02.040(2), 4.02.040(3), 4.02.040(4), 4.02.040(5), 
4.02.040(6), 4.02.060(1), 5.01.030 table 22, and figures 1/59, 28, 60, and 63, shall be 
amended and new Development Code Sections 2.03.020(7), 2.04.020(7), 2.05.020(8), 
2.06.020(17), 3.02.120(2), 3.02.120(3),  3.02.120(4), 3.02.120(5), 3.03.080(9), 
3.03.080(10), 3.03.080(11), 3.03.080(12), 3.09.030(2)(c), 3.12.030(11), 3.15.010(6), 
4.02.020(4), 4.02.020(3)(b), 4.02.020(3)(c), 4.02.030(3)(a), 4.02.030(5)(b), and 
4.02.030(4)(d) shall be added as shown in attached Exhibit A to this Ordinance. 
 
PASSED by the Council and approved by the Mayor this 9th day of January, 2024. 
 
 
 
        
Scott Cowen, 
Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
        
Sheena Dickerman, 
City Recorder 

Page 88 of 118



 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC REVIEW 
January 2, 2024, 6:00 p.m. 

And January 9, 2024, 6:30 p.m. 
Hearing will be in person and  

by phone/computer. 
See Agenda on the City website for details. 

 
The City of Millersburg will hold a PLANNING COMMISSION hearing on January 2, 2024 at the above 
time and place, and a CITY COUNCIL hearing on January 9, 2024 at the above time and place to 
consider the action described below.  The action may be heard later than the time indicated, 
depending on the agenda schedule.  Interested parties are invited to send written comments or 
attend the hearing.   A staff report relating to the proposal will be available seven (7) days prior to 
the first public hearing.  For further information contact Matt Straite, Community Development 
Director, at Millersburg City Hall- (458) 233-6300.  
 
The location of the meeting is accessible to the disabled.  If you need any special accommodation 
to attend or participate in the meeting, please notify City Hall at least twenty-four (24) hours before 
the meeting.   
 
APPLICANT:  City initiated  
LOCATION:  City wide  
CRITERIA:  Millersburg Development Code; Section 5.11. These criteria also require 

compliance with the applicable Statewide Planning Goals and Oregon 
Administrative Rules, 660-004, 660-012, 660-014, 660-015, 660-022, and Oregon 
Revised Statutes 197.732. 

FILE No.:   DC 23-02 
REQUEST:  This Development Code Text Amendment proposes to make 34 revisions to the 

existing Development Code.  These include 19 changes required by the State’s 
Climate Friendly and Equitable Communities (CFEC) mandates, a revised 
definition for day care and ADU’s, clarity for commercial land divisions, 
additional clarity for ADU development standards, additions to the farm and 
livestock section to correct typos and prohibit exotic animals, clarification on 
naming streets, additional revisions to the commercial design guidelines, 
revisions to the historic zoning overlay section, adding clarification regarding 
street trees, adding details to the standards for manufactured homes, clarifying 
standards for RV covers, clarifying setbacks for flag lots, correcting several 
erroneous figures, adding new state requirements for single room occupancies, 
clarifying details for clear vision areas, and correcting a typo regarding trail 
locations.    

   See this link for more detail and full Code text edits proposed: 
https://www.cityofmillersburg.org/planning/page/dc-23-02-development-
code-amendments 

THIS IS TO NOTIFY YOU THAT THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG HAS PROPOSED A LAND 
USE REGULATION THAT WILL AFFECT THE PERMISSIBLE USES OF YOUR PROPERTY 

AND OTHER PROPERTIES AND MAY REDUCE THE VALUE OF YOUR PROPERTY. 

Page 89 of 118



ORDINANCE NO. 210-24 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE MILLERSBURG LAND USE 
DEVELOPMENT CODE BY REVISING SECTIONS 1.02, 2.10, 2.13, 3.02, 3.03, 3.08, 
3.12, 3.15, 3.16, 3.21, 3.24, 3.26, 3.28, 4.02, 5.01, and ADDING NEW SECTIONS TO 
2.03, 2.04, 2.05, 2.06, 3.02, 3.03, 3.09, 3.12, 3.15, AND 4.02 OF THE MILLERSBURG 
LAND USE DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg in October of 2020 adopted an all-new Land Use 
Development Code; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the adopted Land Use Development Code contained instances where the 
Code did not fully address the City’s needs, items were inadvertently excluded, or need 
clarification; and, 
 
WHEREAS, these amendments to the Millersburg Land Use Code will address 34 such 
instances including 19 changes required by the State’s Climate Friendly and Equitable 
Communities (CFEC) mandates, a revised definition for day cares and ADUs, clarity for 
commercial land divisions, additional clarity for ADU development standards, additions to 
the farm and livestock section to correct typos and prohibit exotic animals, clarification on 
naming streets, additional revisions to the commercial design guidelines, revisions to the 
historic zoning overlay section, adding clarification regarding street trees, adding details 
to the standards for manufactured homes, clarifying standards for RV covers, clarifying 
setbacks for flag lots, correcting several erroneous figures, adding new state requirements 
for single room occupancies, clarifying details for clear vision areas, and correcting a typo 
regarding trail locations; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) received 
hearing notice at least thirty-five days in advance of the hearing on January 2, 2024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing notice was posted in the Albany-Corvallis newspaper; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a Measure 56 notice was sent to every property owner in the City of 
Millersburg on December 11, 2023; and, 
 
WHEREAS, a hearing notice was posted in City Hall, on the Millersburg Website, and 
emailed to all parties who signed up for hearing notifications; and, 
 
WHEREAS, on January 2, 2024, the Millersburg Planning Commission recommended the 
Millersburg City Council approve amendments; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Millersburg Planning Commission and City Council reviewed all 
findings in the January 4, 2024, Planning Commission Staff Report, and determined that 
the project meets all criteria requirements from Section 5.11 of the Millersburg Land Use 
Development Code; 

Page 90 of 118



  
NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG DO 
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  
 
The Millersburg City Council adopts all findings from the January 3, 2024, Staff Report, 
and finds that the project meets all criteria requirements from Section 5.11 of the 
Millersburg Land Use Development Code; and, 
 
FURTHERMORE, the Millersburg Land Use Development Code sections 1.02.020, 2.10.050 
table 9, 2.13.040, 3.02.030(9), 3.03.010, 3.03.020(2), 3.03.030, 3.03.030(2), 3.03.030(4), 
3.03.040, 3.03.050(1), 3.03.050(2), 3.03.050(3), 3.03.050(4),  3.03.060(1), 3.03.060(2), 
3.03.060(3), 3.08.060(5), 3.03.080, 3.12.030(6), 3.12.030(7), 3.12.030(8), 3.15.010 table 
17, 3.16.010(4), 3.16.010(11), 3.21.040(3), 3.24.015(5), 3.26.030(2), 3.28.020(7),  
4.02.030, 4.02.030(5), 4.02.030(8), 4.02.040(2), 4.02.040(3), 4.02.040(4), 4.02.040(5), 
4.02.040(6), 4.02.060(1), 5.01.030 table 22, and figures 1/59, 28, 60, and 63, shall be 
amended and new Development Code Sections 2.03.020(7), 2.04.020(7), 2.05.020(8), 
2.06.020(17), 3.02.120(2), 3.02.120(3),  3.02.120(4), 3.02.120(5), 3.03.080(9), 
3.03.080(10), 3.03.080(11), 3.03.080(12), 3.09.030(2)(c), 3.12.030(11), 3.15.010(6), 
4.02.020(4), 4.02.020(3)(b), 4.02.020(3)(c), 4.02.030(3)(a), 4.02.030(5)(b), and 
4.02.030(4)(d) shall be added as shown in attached Exhibit A to this Ordinance. 
 
PASSED by the Council and approved by the Mayor this 9th day of January, 2024. 
 
 
 
        
Scott Cowen, 
Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
        
Sheena Dickerman, 
City Recorder 

Page 91 of 118



Committee Assignment as of December 2023

Events Planning Committee Liaison Scott Cowan
Mark Raum

Joint Water/Wastewater Management 
Committee Dave Harms

Scott Cowan
Mark Raum (alternate)

Council of Governments (COG) Scott Cowan
Mike Hickam

COG Consortium Janelle Booth
Kevin Kreitman

Albany Area Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (AAMPO) John Sullivan (Policy Board)

Janelle Booth (TAC)

Cascades West Area Commission on 
Transportation (CWACT) John Sullivan (Policy Board)

Janelle Booth (TAC)

LEDG Board (formerly AMEDC) - Appointed by Linn County

Page 92 of 118



 
 
TO: Millersburg City Council 

 
VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

 
FROM: City Staff 

 
DATE: January 4, 2024, for Council Meeting January 9, 2024 

SUBJECT: Project Updates Memo 
 

 

Monthly Update on Projects:  
Staff are currently in the process of implementing many projects and activities in 
the city to address objectives of the Strategic Plan, direction from Council, and 
needs staff have identified.  
 

An overview of several specific tasks and projects is provided below.  
 
 
North Millersburg Park 
On January 2, 2024, the Planning Commission approved the site development 
review application for the preferred alternative.  The conceptual design phase is 
complete.  Staff will now investigate funding opportunities for the final design. 
 
Albany-Millersburg Water Treatment Plant (AM-WTP) Project and Reservoir 
Drawdown 
The week of 12/11 Albany attempted to perform a project to replace the seismic 
valve on the reservoir at the AM-WTP.  During the project the AM-WTP cannot 
convey water, so both Albany and Millersburg were to receive water from the Vine 
Street Plant.  However, when production at the Vine Street Plant was ramped up it 
was unable to produce water of sufficient quality.  Operations staff believe this was 
because of the high turbidity in the water source at the Santiam River due to the 
Green Peter reservoir drawdown.  The project was put on hold to be rescheduled 
for a date to be determined after the holidays. 
 
Communities downstream of Green Peter and Lookout Point reservoirs were 
significantly impacted by drawdowns in the fall of 2023.  Existing water treatment 
systems were not designed to deal with the very high turbidity levels the 
drawdowns created.  This resulted in significant impacts in cost and staff time 
required to treat, remove, and dispose of sediment in the water.  If these 
drawdowns continue in future years, many water treatment systems in our region 
will need major modifications to deal with the sediment.  Millersburg was asked to 
joined with other communities and representatives in our region to support a letter 
to Governor Kotek regarding the role of state agencies in this issue and requesting 
“assistance in mitigating the damages and fostering a more equitable and 
community-inclusive approach to managing our dams” and to push for “a 
balanced approach of priorities and representation for our communities during 
future management decisions of our dams.”  A letter from Governor Kotek to the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers requesting assistance with the matter and the 
Coalition letter are attached to this memo. 
 
 
 

Page 93 of 118



Millersburg City Council  Page 2 
January 4, 2024 
 
 
Kinder Morgan Tank Farm 
The progress on the removal was slowed some by legal/contract requirements with 
the contractor for the demolition of the tanks.  All the tanks have been opened in 
preparation and it was verified there was no remaining petroleum, however seven 
of the tanks did have some accumulated rainwater (eight of the tanks on site have 
floating roofs).  They have pumped the water out into portable storage tanks on 
site pending analytical testing for RCRA metals.  Once testing is complete the 
water will be removed from the facility and appropriately disposed.  Given the 
delays the plan is for the contractor to begin mobilizing on the site the week of 
January 8th and they anticipate a three to four week process to cut and remove 
the tanks from the site. 

Page 94 of 118



 

TINA KOTEK 

GOVERNOR 

 

254 STATE CAPITOL, SALEM OR 97301-4047 (503) 378-3111 FAX (503) 378-8970 

WWW.GOVERNOR.OREGON.GOV 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
December 18, 2023 
 
 
Elizabeth Wells 
Deputy District Engineer for Programs & Project Management 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Northwestern Division  
1201 NE Lloyd Blvd., Suite 400  
Portland, OR 97232-1257 
 
Dear Ms. Wells: 
 
I am writing to express my concern about the severe water quality issues and fish mortalities 
resulting from the Corps’ recent drawdown of Lookout Point and Green Peter reservoirs.  While 
these deep drawdowns were planned to provide juvenile fish passage under the terms of the 2021 
Court Order, the Corps should have anticipated that significant turbidity and other impacts would 
occur.  Compounding the situation, coordination with the State of Oregon and downstream cities 
in advance of these actions was woefully inadequate.  
 
The Green Peter Dam Fall Downstream Fish Passage Injunction Measure 2022-04-20 is clear 
that the Corps has a responsibility to make “every effort to comply with the various water quality 
standards governing the WVP.”  The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) has 
received several complaints over the past few weeks regarding the turbidity related to the 
drawdown of Green Peter Reservoir and has identified several violations of state water quality 
standards.  While I understand that you expect water quality impacts to diminish in future years 
as the built-up sediment is flushed, there are certainly measures that the Corps can implement to 
minimize the extent and impact of future drawdowns and other proposed changes to improve fish 
passage – something DEQ and the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife would be pleased to 
collaborate on with your staff.  
 
While Oregon supports measures to recover salmon and steelhead in the basin, it is imperative 
that the Corps work proactively with state and local governments to communicate and mitigate 
all potential short and long-term impacts of the fish passage measures you anticipate taking to 
remain in compliance with the Endangered Species Act – especially as drawdowns and other 
operational measures are likely to continue into the foreseeable future as you complete the 
Operations and Maintenance Environmental Impact Statement and a new Biological Opinion is 
issued to ensure ESA compliance.

Page 95 of 118



 

 

Elizabeth Wells 
December 18, 2023 
Page 2  
 
It is equally important that you work with local leaders in the region to understand the full extent 
of impacts of the drawdowns and to explore all options within your current authorities to support 
the impacted communities.  This should include providing technical expertise and engineering 
support and financial assistance to cities who have been working around the clock to manage the 
impacts of your recent action.  
 
Moving forward, I am looking for assurance from the Corps that there will be improved 
coordination and communication across all levels of government as it relates to operation of the 
dams under the injunction. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Governor Tina Kotek 
 
 
cc: Director Curt Melcher, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 

Director Leah Felden, Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 

Page 96 of 118



 
 

3 January 2023 

 

The Honorable  

Governor Tina Kotek 

254 State Capitol  

Salem, OR 97301 

 

Subject: State has responsibility in devastating deep drawdowns at Willamette Basin Dams  

  

Governor Kotek,  

  

We sincerely appreciate you taking the time to express your concerns to the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers over the water quality and fish kills many of our communities are experiencing. Clean 

water is a resource our state prides itself on protecting, and your advocacy embodies that 

commitment. We are writing, however, to bring to your attention the critical role one of your 

agencies played in the rise of these concerns and the conditions we are now facing: violations of 

communities' right to clean water, a looming threat for many more communities’ water, and 

millions of dollars in costs to communities as a direct result of the state's advocacy.  

  

Though it is easy to regard this as a Federal issue and think an agency like the Corps is thus 

responsible, the State's overwhelming support of plaintiffs seeking to improve salmonid 

populations in the Upper Willamette River under the Endangered Species Act cannot be ignored. 

Despite the Corps and other defendants' staunch opposition to plaintiffs' proposed remedies due 

to fears of far-reaching negative impacts including to human health and safety, ODFW was 

resolute in their support of the remedies. The State's testimony was critical in U.S. District Judge 

Marco A. Hernandez filing the injunction in 2021 which forced the Corps to conduct drawdowns 

of Willamette Basin dams—including the devastating deep drawdowns at Green Peter Dam and 

Page 97 of 118



Lookout Point Dam. ODFW's overwhelming support for plaintiffs and utter dismissal of the 

Corps' concerns can be summed up in one quote from their reply brief:  

  

“Nothing in the Federal Defendants' response brief or declarations has shaken 

[ODFW]'s support for remedies proposed by plaintiffs. To the contrary, the Federal 

Defendants' response underscores the need for the Court to enter the proposed 

remedies...”  

  

When the Corps raised concern these measures would force them to violate state standards in 

water quality and that the state would need to alter our standards for remedies to be in 

compliance, ODFW denied any change to standards was necessary and argued that the Corps 

was “over simplifying” the situation. The agency went even further in their advocacy, assuring 

the Court that these drawdowns would in fact improve water quality, and that “the potential for 

conflicts have been considered and addressed.” Yet no provisions were included in the remedies 

to mitigate the negative impacts on anything but Chinook Salmon. 

 

We understand you were not Governor at the time this injunction was ordered, but that doesn't 

diminish the State's obligation in the problems occurring today due to ODFW's role in that trial. 

Oregon has a responsibility to balance the priorities of our state and ensure the protection of our 

communities, waters, and our ecosystems as a whole—not just a single part. In failing to do so, 

the State paved the way for the Corps' and other Defendants' fears of negative impacts—to water 

quality, to neighboring communities’ water supply, to other species sharing our water ways, to 

agriculture's irrigation abilities, and to economies who rely on recreational tourism—to become 

the reality for our region, proving those concerns were not the mere “deflections” ODFW 

dismissed them as being. The State demonstrated a unilateral priority of one salmonid species—

regarding as irrelevant anything that didn't have direct impact to that species, including human 

health and safety, the thousands of Kokanee Salmon in Foster Reservoir, and the economic losses 

in the communities surrounding these waterways. 
 

ODFW failed to give adequate consideration to the warned far-reaching and truly devastating 

impacts on the priorities of our state beyond a single species. As such, we need for you and your 

agencies to champion the balanced solutions Oregon deserves, and prioritize mitigating the harm 

inflicted to our rural communities because of these orders.  

 

The injunction resulted in concerning drawdowns at many of the 13 dams in the Willamette 

River Basin, but the epicenter of the fallout is truly the deep drawdowns at Green Peter Dam and 

Lookout Point Dam. The communities of Lebanon and Sweet Home have experienced raw water 

turbidity levels as high as 350 NTU (nephelometric turbidity units), far surpassing the usual 

wintertime average of 15 NTU, and even the storm-event spikes of 50 NTU. Water treatment 

plants for communities were planned according to historic NTU levels our waterways may 

experience, and have caused plants to be grossly inadequate to process these incredible 

turbidities without added costs, increased chemical usage, and prematurely depleting their 

membrane longevity. The long-term impacts on the treatment plants are still being assessed, but 

replacement of the membranes alone will cost these cities several million dollars, and the 

necessary pre-treatment installations will cost many more millions—which communities cannot 

afford. 

Page 98 of 118



 

There are some who think that the consequences of these drawdowns will not persist beyond the 

winter months—as the Corps has already begun refilling the reservoirs; but there are serious 

concerns that the reservoirs will not be restored to previous levels by spring and summer. Lower 

pool levels will reduce summer flows in our rivers and heighten the risk of wells running dry, 

exacerbating water scarcity, and impacting local communities as well as irrigation districts. 

These impacts have already started just outside Lowell near Dexter Reservoir, and are likely to 

spread to other communities as we proceed into summer months. The reduced reservoir capacity 

also threatens economic stability as communities face losses in recreation and tourism, leading to 

further declines in revenue and employment opportunities, such has already been reported for 

many businesses in Sweet Home.  

Looking ahead to future years, even downstream communities like Salem face an imminent 

threat to their water supply if the deep drawdown orders are expanded. Salem and communities 

upstream toward Detroit Dam rely on the North Santiam for their water supply, and their 

treatment systems are ill-prepared to endure anywhere close to the turbidity levels that have been 

seen in the South Santiam and the Willamette’s Middle Fork. The long-term consequences 

extend beyond the immediate challenges some communities are enduring, as the cumulative 

impact may strain municipal resources throughout the river basin, necessitate costly 

infrastructure adjustments, and adversely affect the overall well-being of our communities—

especially disrupting the wildfire recovery efforts in the Santiam Canyon as it sustains the 

incredible losses of recreation tourism (estimated at up to $11M per year) which it has relied on 

for decades. 

It is imperative that the State of Oregon takes a stand in mitigating the fallout from decisions it 

so strongly advocated for, but also to show Oregonians that there are no double standards 

between the expectations of government entities and private entities when it comes to the 

protections of our natural resources. When a privately owned and managed dam in Douglas 

County needed to conduct a drawdown for repairs, and the negative impacts and fish kills were 

more than engineering firms anticipated, ODFW took action to hold them accountable filing a 

$27.6 million claim against the Winchester Water Control District (WWCD) on the basis that the 

losses were “significant and preventable”. Yet when the managing entity of the Willamette River 

Basin dams (the Corps) objected to mandated drawdowns due to the overwhelming risk of 

negative impacts, the State chose the opposite course of action: advocating for the remedies 

which have resulted in, likewise, significant and preventable losses—including an unfathomable 

amount of dead Kokanee in Foster Reservoir. The entities who advocated for those remedies 

should be held accountable for the losses incurred, no differently than what ODFW did with 

WWCD—which should include the State of Oregon. 

As a result of the widespread negative environmental and economic consequences stemming 

from the deep drawdowns at Green Peter and Lookout Point Dams, we respectfully request your 

assistance in mitigating damages and fostering a more equitable and community-inclusive 

approach to managing our dams. We urge you to not only advocate for the allocation of $45 

million* in emergency funding to cover the incurred costs communities have sustained due to the 

turbid waters, but also to advocate for additional funding as costs continue to be assessed. We 

also urge you to push for a modification to Judge Hernandez’s 2021 injunction to require a 

Page 99 of 118



balanced approach of priorities and representation for our communities during future 

management decisions of our dams. Letting our rural communities have more of a say in the 

management of our own resources will ease many of the tensions that continue to fuel the urban 

and rural divide our state faces, while also leading to more balanced decisions that weigh water, 

fish life, and the economic impacts nearby localities will sustain. 

Respectfully, 

 

Fred Girod       Cedric Hayden 
State Senator, District 9      State Senator, District 6 
 
John Lively       Jami Cate 
State Representative, District 7     State Representative, District 11 
 
Charlie Conrad       Ed Diehl 
State Representative, District 12     State Representative, District 17 
 
Roger Nyquist       Will Tucker 
Linn County Commissioner     Linn County Commissioner 
 
Sherrie Sprenger      Danielle Bethell 
Linn County Commissioner     Marion County Commissioner 
 
Kevin Cameron       Colm Willis 
Marion County Commissioner     Marion County Commissioner 
 
Ryan Ceniga       David Loveall 
Lane County Commissioner     Lane County Commissioner 
 
Mayor Kenneth Jackola      Mayor Susan Coleman 
City of Lebanon       City of Sweet Home 
 
Mayor Steve Horning      Mayor Ron Evans 
City of Turner       City of Gates 
 
Mayor Jim Trett       Mayor Brian Lewis 
City of Detroit       City of Sodaville 
 
Mayor Justin Cary      Mayor Don Bennett 
City of Waterloo      City of Lowell 
 
Mayor Tim Kirsch      Mayor Adam Craven 
Mill City       City of Brownsville 
 
 

Page 100 of 118



Mayor Michael Myers      Mayor Scott Cowen 
City of Jefferson       City of Millersburg 
 
Brent Stevenson 
Santiam Water Control District 
 
 
 

 

 ALBANY LEBANON SWEET HOME LOWELL 

PRETREATMENT 
INSTALLATION/RETROFITS 

$15,000,000 $15,000,000 TBD $1,000,000 

MEMBRANE 
REPLACEMENT 

$1,800,0000 $3,000,000-
$5,000,000 

TBD TBD 

ADDED CHEMICAL 
TREATMENT & LABOR 

$15,000 TBD $17,518.06 TBD 

WELL REPLACEMENT & 
DEEPENINGS 

  TBD $150,000 

ECONOMIC LOSSES  TBD TBD 10% Minimum TBD 

 

Total Costs Incurred: $37,982,518.06 

 

Page 101 of 118



Public Meeting and Records Guidelines for Millersburg City Council 
 

• The Mayor runs the meeting.  The Mayor opens the meeting, receives the Motions, 
conducts the voting and announces the result of the vote, adjourns the meeting. 
 

• Oregon Public Meetings Law is a public attendance law, not a public participation 
law.  The individual Council determines the amount of public participation. 
 

• A quorum of the entire Council must be present to conduct business (vote). 
 

Review of Oregon open-meetings law 
 

1) Other than during a Council meeting, don’t discuss Council business when a 
quorum or more of Council members are together. 
 

2) Don’t discuss Council business with other Council members via written 
communication (email, text, letter).  If you discuss Council business with other 
Council members via written communication (email, text, letter), that written 
communication (email, text, letter) must be maintained and not destroyed for five 
years.  Discussion via email, text, or letter, between or among Council members, 
may violate the Oregon open-meetings law. 
 
Staff may send one-way communication simultaneously to all Council members, but 
Council members should not reply.  This dissemination of information by staff is not 
considered a public meeting, but rather a dissemination of information from staff to 
Council members.  This disseminated information from staff does not violate the 
Oregon open-meetings law, but nevertheless must be maintained by each Council 
member for five years. 

 
Retention of correspondence and notes to comply with an Oregon Records 
request 

 
1) Any written communication (email, text, letter) that a Council member sends 

regarding Council matters must be retained by the sending and receiving Council 
member for five years.  
 

2) Please retain all email, letters, and hand-written notes made for your own purposes 
(i.e. notes written on documents provided in the agenda packet or distributed 
during a public meeting) for five years from the date of authorship.   
 

3) YOUR NOTES ARE PUBLIC RECORDS AND MUST BE PROVIDED WHEN REQUESTED IN A 
PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST. 

 

Page 102 of 118



TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

DATE: December 7, 2023, for the January 9, 2024, City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Republic Services Rate Increase Request for 2024 

 
Action Requested:  Re-consideration for approval of the rate increase requested 
by Republic Services for solid waste management. 
 
Discussion: The City of Millersburg currently has an exclusive franchise agreement 
with Albany-Lebanon Sanitation (dba Republic Services).  Under the franchise 
agreement Republic Services is required to submit to the City a schedule of rates 
for its customers, and those rates are subject to approval by resolution by the City.   
 
Our agreement also states the following with regard to establishing rates, or in 
considering rate increases or decreases, “In establishing rates or in consideration 
of rate increases or decreases, the City must find that the rates will be just, fair, 
reasonable and sufficient to provide proper service to the public and will take into 
consideration the cost of doing business by the Franchise and the ability of the 
customer to pay such rates charged by a similar business.”   
 
Remaining items the Council is to consider are addressed in the current franchise 
agreement. ORS 459.085 City, county authority to issue collection service 
franchises; opportunity to recycle; rates, contains additional requirements 
regarding rate increase requests. 
 
Republic Services has provided a cost breakdown of their units of business and 
customer service. 
 
The annual rate increase calculation, which was agreed upon by the cities in the 
region, is based upon the Consumer Price Index, fuel pricing, and disposal costs.  
The calculated rate increase this year is a 1.0% increase for 2024.  For a residential 
account, this is an average increase of $0.21 to $0.36 monthly depending on cart 
size.  The 2024 increase will be effective January 1, 2024. 
 
Based on discussions during our November meeting, Republic Services signed an 
amendment to our current franchise agreement (attached) which extends our 
notification deadline from December 1, 2023, to June 1, 2024.  This provides time 
for the parties to work on modifications to our current franchise agreement.  If we 
are unable to agree to a modified agreement and the City provides notice of 
intent to terminate the agreement prior to June 1, 2024, the termination date will 
be January 1, 2030. 
 
Budget Impact:  Approval of the rate increase would result in a slight increase in 
franchise fees received. 
 

Page 103 of 118



Millersburg City Council 
Page 2 
December 7, 2023 
Recommendation: Staff recommend passage of the attached resolution 
authorizing the 1% increase, and to direct staff to begin work with Republic 
Services on an update to our franchise agreement. 
 
Attachment(s):  

• Rate increase request supporting documentation, current and proposed 
rates from Republic Services 

• Resolution 2024-10- Republic Services Rate Increase for 2024 
• Amendment to Solid Waste Management Franchise Agreement 

Page 104 of 118



 

18500 N. Allied Way Phoenix, AZ 85054  |  RepublicServices.com  |  Environmental Services, Recycling & Waste 

September 29, 2023 

 

Scott Cowan, Mayor 

Millersburg City Council 

Millersburg City Staff 

 

Dear Mayor Cowan, Council and Staff,  

 

This report provides information necessary to calculate the annual Refuse Rate 

Index (RRI) effective January 1, 2024. As stated in the Rate Modification and Rate 

Adjustment Statement this calculation is based on the Consumer Price Index, fuel 

cost and disposal costs. Based on these factors, the calculated adjustment for 

January 1, 2024, is 1% as shown below: 

As expected, the reduction in fuel prices and a more moderate economy are driving 

this modest increase. Customers will see increases from $.21 to $.36 monthly, 

depending on cart size.  

 

Last year at this time we spoke to the Council about a shortage of drivers but are 

pleased to now be almost fully staffed and are seeing a normal rate of turnover.  

Innovations in the way our drivers run their route continues to improve the job. An 

example is the tablet drivers now use to run the route, keep track of which carts are 

not out, track carts that are contaminated and customers who have extra waste at 

the curb.  

 

Page 105 of 118



 

18500 N. Allied Way Phoenix, AZ 85054  |  RepublicServices.com  |  Environmental Services, Recycling & Waste 

As always, we continue to stay on top of changes coming to recycling in Oregon 

through the Recycling Modernization Act (RMA.) These changes go into effect  July 1, 

2025 and we will make sure that customers are aware later in 2024.  

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

 

Best Regards, 

 

 

 

Julie Jackson 

Municipal Manager 

Republic Services 

Jjackson6@republicservices.com 

541-936-1334 

 

 

Page 106 of 118

mailto:Jjackson6@republicservices.com


Current and proposed 1% Residential Services Rates for Millersburg Republic Services

Service
Current 
Monthly

Current 
Bi-Monthly

Proposed 
Monthly

Proposed 
Bi-Monthly

Proposed 
Monthly Total 

Increase 

Proposed 
Bi-Monthly 

Total 
Increase

1 Can 27.91$            55.83$                28.19$      56.39$       0.28$              0.56$         
Add can 20.47$            40.94$                20.67$      41.35$       0.20$              0.41$         
20g cart 20.83$            41.66$                21.04$      42.08$       0.21$              0.42$         
32g cart 23.35$            46.70$                23.58$      47.16$       0.23$              0.47$         

64g cart Monthly NA NA NA NA NA NA
90g cart 36.45$            72.90$                36.81$      73.63$       0.36$              0.73$         

On call 35G 16.23$            NA 16.39$      NA 0.16$              NA
Up-drive 22.39$            44.78$                22.61$      45.22$       0.22$              0.45$         
YC Only 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
CO Only 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
Extra YC 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
Extra CO 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
RC Only 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
Extra RC 9.93$              19.86$                10.03$      20.06$       0.10$              0.20$         
Enclosure 29.77$            59.54$                30.07$      60.13$       0.30$              0.60$         

Service  Current Rate  Proposed Rate 
 Proposed 

Total 
Increase  

Return Trip (In Area-On Service 
Day)-RTN 32.43$            32.75$                0.32$        
EXC-Wash Cart 52.40$            52.92$                0.52$        
Residential Container Exchange (1x 
year @ no charge) 26.75$            27.02$                0.27$        

Residential Extra Pick Up - per hour  $          148.82 150.31$              1.49$        
LLK-Locking Cart Set Up 34.13$            34.47$                0.34$        

Extra 32g can, extra bag, or overweight/heavy11.88$            12.00$                0.12$        

Current and Proposed 1% Residential Services Rates for Millersburg

Misc

Republic Services

Page 107 of 118



Current and proposed 1% Residential Services Rates for Millersburg Republic Services

Service  Current Rate  Proposed Rate 
 Proposed 

Total 
Increase  

Dead Large Animal
149.25$          150.75$              1.49$        

Furniture 41.30$            41.71$                0.41$        
Mattress or Boxspring 34.27$            34.61$                0.34$        
Christmas Tree (up to 8ft, no 
tinsel/flocking) 11.88$            12.00$                0.12$        
Appliance (no freon) 34.71$            35.05$                0.35$        
Appliance (with freon) 46.84$            47.31$                0.47$        
Car Tires (no rim) 17.88$            18.05$                0.18$        
Car Tires (with rim) 26.75$            27.02$                0.27$        
Truck Tires (no rim) 38.65$            39.04$                0.39$        
Truck Tires (with rim 55.03$            55.58$                0.55$        

Service  Current Rate 
Residential Delivery 30.00$               

Late Fee
 1.5% 

($5 min charge) 
Returned Check Fee 25.00$               
Service Interrupt Fee 30.00$               
Account Origination Fee 10.00$               

Commercial Container Recovery Fee 480.00$             
Industrial Container Recovery Fee 4,000.00$          
Bin Replacement 15.00$               

32/35g Cart Recovery/Replacement 75.00$               

90g,Yc Cart Recovery/Replacement 75.00$               

Monthly Recycle Processing Surcharge 2.00$                 
Contimination fee (Recycle and Yard 
Waste Carts) 15.00$               

Other Service Fees

Special Pick Ups

Page 108 of 118



Current and Proposed 1% Commercial Service Rates for Millersburg Republic Services.

Size
 Current
1/week

Proposed
1/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
1/week

Current
2/week

Proposed
2/week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
2/week

Current
3/Week

Proposed
3/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
3/week

Current
4/Week

Proposed 
4/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
4/week

Current
5/Week

Proposed
5/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
5/week

1.5 yd  $   181.31  $   183.12  $           1.81  $    344.07  $    347.51  $        3.44  $    506.93  $    512.00  $         5.07  $    669.42  $    676.12  $          6.69  $    832.02  $    840.34  $       8.32 
2 yd  $   222.01  $   224.23  $           2.22  $    422.83  $    427.06  $        4.23  $    623.53  $    629.77  $         6.24  $    824.39  $    832.63  $          8.24  $ 1,024.95  $ 1,035.20  $     10.25 
3 yd  $   283.32  $   286.16  $           2.83  $    539.72  $    545.12  $        5.40  $    806.37  $    814.43  $         8.06  $ 1,054.55  $ 1,065.10  $        10.55  $ 1,316.44  $ 1,329.60  $     13.16 
4 yd  $   338.46  $   341.84  $           3.38  $    645.79  $    652.25  $        6.46  $    950.83  $    960.34  $         9.51  $ 1,257.33  $ 1,269.90  $        12.57  $ 1,562.45  $ 1,578.07  $     15.62 
6 yd  $   394.09  $   398.03  $           3.94  $    754.98  $    762.53  $        7.55  $ 1,109.05  $ 1,120.14  $       11.09  $ 1,466.26  $ 1,480.92  $        14.66  $ 1,822.59  $ 1,840.81  $     18.23 
7 yd  $   470.22  $   474.92  $           4.70  $    903.29  $    912.33  $        9.03  $ 1,331.60  $ 1,344.91  $       13.32  $ 1,760.44  $ 1,778.04  $        17.60  $ 2,188.61  $ 2,210.50  $     21.89 
8 yd  $   570.16  $   575.86  $           5.70  $ 1,089.12  $ 1,100.01  $       10.89  $ 1,598.52  $ 1,614.50  $       15.99  $ 2,107.66  $ 2,128.73  $        21.08  $ 2,607.06  $ 2,633.13  $     26.07 

Size
 Current
1/week

Proposed
1/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
1/week

Current
2/week

Proposed
2/week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
2/week

Current
3/Week

Proposed
3/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
3/week

Current
4/Week

Proposed 
4/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
4/week

Current
5/Week

Proposed
5/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
5/week

1.5 yd  $   153.04  $   154.57  $           1.53  $    284.80  $    287.64  $        2.85  $    416.54  $    420.71  $         4.17  $    548.60  $    554.08  $          5.49  $    680.32  $    687.13  $       6.80 
2 yd  $   185.82  $   187.68  $           1.86  $    348.29  $    351.77  $        3.48  $    495.49  $    500.45  $         4.95  $    673.23  $    679.96  $          6.73  $    835.71  $    844.07  $       8.36 
3 yd  $   231.56  $   233.88  $           2.32  $    435.39  $    439.74  $        4.35  $    639.21  $    645.60  $         6.39  $    843.22  $    851.66  $          8.43  $ 1,047.06  $ 1,057.54  $     10.47 
4 yd  $   275.92  $   278.68  $           2.76  $    521.15  $    526.36  $        5.21  $    766.23  $    773.89  $         7.66  $ 1,011.55  $ 1,021.67  $        10.12  $ 1,256.64  $ 1,269.21  $     12.57 
6 yd  $   380.25  $   384.05  $           3.80  $    724.71  $    731.96  $        7.25  $ 1,069.45  $ 1,080.15  $       10.69  $ 1,413.94  $ 1,428.08  $        14.14  $ 1,758.40  $ 1,775.98  $     17.58 

8 yd  $   464.21  $   468.85  $           4.64  $    884.34  $    893.18  $        8.84  $ 1,291.04  $ 1,303.95  $       12.91  $ 1,724.54  $ 1,741.79  $        17.25  $ 2,185.88  $ 2,207.73  $     21.86 

Size
 Current
1/week

Proposed
1/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
1/week

Current
2/week

Proposed
2/week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
2/week

Current
3/Week

Proposed
3/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
3/week

Current
4/Week

Proposed 
4/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
4/week

Current
5/Week

Proposed
5/Week

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
5/week

Current EXT
Proposed 

EXT

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
EXT

2 yd  $   444.03  $   448.47  $           4.44  $    845.67  $    854.12  $        8.46  $ 1,247.06  $ 1,259.53  $       12.47  $ 1,648.76  $ 1,665.24  $        16.49  $ 2,049.89  $ 2,070.39  $     20.50  $       122.89  $  124.12  $        1.23 
3 yd  $   566.61  $   572.28  $           5.67  $ 1,079.44  $ 1,090.23  $       10.79  $ 1,612.73  $ 1,628.86  $       16.13  $ 2,109.13  $ 2,130.22  $        21.09  $ 2,632.87  $ 2,659.20  $     26.33  $       153.45  $  154.98  $        1.53 
4 yd  $   676.93  $   683.70  $           6.77  $ 1,291.62  $ 1,304.53  $       12.92  $ 1,901.62  $ 1,920.64  $       19.02  $ 2,514.63  $ 2,539.78  $        25.15  $ 3,124.93  $ 3,156.18  $     31.25  $       192.79  $  194.72  $        1.93 
5 yd  $   788.18  $   796.06  $           7.88  $ 1,509.97  $ 1,525.07  $       15.10  $ 1,869.68  $ 1,888.37  $       18.70  $ 2,471.90  $ 2,496.62  $        24.72  $ 3,073.69  $ 3,104.43  $     30.74 
6 yd  $   940.41  $   949.81  $           9.40  $ 1,806.59  $ 1,824.65  $       18.07  $ 2,663.18  $ 2,689.81  $       26.63  $ 3,520.86  $ 3,556.07  $        35.21  $ 4,377.21  $ 4,420.98  $     43.77  $       277.71  $  280.49  $        2.78 
8 yd  $1,140.30  $1,151.71  $         11.40  $ 2,178.25  $ 2,200.03  $       21.78  $ 3,197.01  $ 3,228.98  $       31.97  $ 4,215.29  $ 4,257.44  $        42.15  $ 5,214.16  $ 5,266.30  $     52.14  $       357.71  $  361.28  $        3.58 

Size Dump Fee
Proposed 
Dump Fee

Proposed 
Total 

Difference

Current 
Rent

Proposed 
Rent

Proposed 
Total Rent 
Difference 

Service
Current 

Rate
Proposed 

Rate

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 
Service

Current 
Rate

Proposed 
Rate

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 

1.5 yd  $     51.22  $     51.73  $           0.51  $     37.82  $      38.20  $        0.38 

90g 
Emptied 
Weekly  $       68.27  $      68.95  $       0.68 

Commercial 
Recycling  $       2.18  $       2.20  $           0.02 

2 yd  $     61.43  $     62.05  $           0.61  $     41.08  $      41.49  $        0.41 
Each Extra 

Cart  $       69.36  $      70.05  $       0.69 
3 yd  $     76.74  $     77.50  $           0.77  $     44.37  $      44.82  $        0.44 
4 yd  $     96.40  $     97.36  $           0.96  $     47.65  $      48.13  $        0.48 
6 yd  $   138.84  $   140.23  $           1.39  $     51.07  $      51.58  $        0.51 
8 yd  $   178.85  $   180.64  $           1.79  $     54.34  $      54.88  $        0.54 

Size
Current 

Dump Fee
Proposed 
Dump Fee

Proposed 
Total 

Increase 

Current 
Max Rent

Proposed 
Max Rent

Proposed 
Total Max 

Rent 
Increase 

Current 
Daily Rate 

After 1 
Week

Proposed 
Daily Rate 

After 1 
Week

Proposed 
Total Daily 

Rate After 1 
Week 

Increase

Service
Current 

Rate
Proposed 

Rate

Proposed 
Total 

Difference 

3 yd  $   108.67  $   109.76  $           1.09  $     44.37  $      44.82  $        0.44  $       4.51  $       4.56  $         0.05 
90g with 

Trash  $             -    $           -    $           -   
300 Gallon 
YW 50.6523  $     51.16  $           0.51 31.283  $      31.60  $        0.31  $           -   Extra Cart  $          9.92  $      10.02  $       0.10 

Commercial Yard Debris

Republic Services
Current and Proposed 1% Commercial Services Rates for Millersburg

Temperary Containers

Commercial On Call Containers/EXT Rates Commercial Food waste Commercial Comingle Recycling

Commercial (Manual) Service Rate

Commercial Stab

Commercial Compactors

Page 109 of 118



Current and Proposed 1% Commercial Service Rates for Millersburg Republic Services.

Service
Current 

Rate
Proposed 

Rate

Proposed 
Total Rate 
Increase 

Commercial 
Delivery  $     30.00  $     32.70  $           2.70 
Commercial 
Exchange-
EXC  $     50.49  $     55.03  $           4.54 

Commercial 
Dry Run-DRY  $     68.25  $     74.39  $           6.14 

Commercial 
Extra Lift

 See EXT 
Rates  

Commercial 
Extra 
Yardage  $     27.31  $     29.77  $           2.46 
Commercial 
Relocate  $   136.53  $   148.82  $         12.29 
Commercial 
Removal  NA  NA  NA 
Container 
Over Weight 
(per 500lbs)  $     20.54  $     22.39  $           1.85 

Container Off-
Route Pick 
Up, In Area 
(30 minutes)  $     68.27  $     74.41  $           6.14 
Container Off-
Route Pick 
Up, Out of 
Area (60 
minutes)  $   136.53  $   148.82  $         12.29 

Lock and Key  $     28.70  $     31.28  $           2.58 
Locking 
Container Set 
Up  $     68.37  $     74.52  $           6.15 

Supplemental  Service and Miscellaneous Fees

Page 110 of 118



Current and Proposed 1% Monthly Industrial Service Rates for Millersburg Republic Services

 Service  Current Rate  Proposed Rate 
 Proposed Total 

Increase 
 Service 

 Current 
Rate 

 Proposed 
Rate 

 Proposed 
Total 

Increase 
Prepayment 10-30 yd 381.50$            385.32$                 3.82$                      Rent 130.80$     132.11$     1.31$           
Prepayment 40 yd 436.00$            440.36$                 4.36$                       Delivery Per Hour - 1hr Min 81.75$       82.57$       0.82$           
10 yd Haul 261.89$            264.51$                 2.62$                      
20 yd Haul 261.89$            264.51$                 2.62$                      Compactor Cleaning
30 yd Haul 278.24$            281.03$                 2.78$                      
40 yd Haul 294.63$            297.57$                 2.95$                      

15 yd Compactor Haul 339.27$            342.67$                 3.39$                      Service
Current 

Rate
Proposed 

Rate

Proposed 
Total Rate 
Increase 

20 yd Compactor Haul 339.27$            342.67$                 3.39$                       Industrial Delivery  $       56.53 57.09$       0.57$           
30 yd Compactor Haul 364.67$            368.32$                 3.65$                       Industrial Exchange 
40 yd Compactor Haul 364.67$            368.32$                 3.65$                       Industrial Dry Run  $       56.53 57.09$       0.57$           
Asbestos Haul 136.16$            137.52$                 1.36$                       Industrial Relocate  $       56.53 57.09$       0.57$           

 Industrial Removal  $       56.53 57.09$       0.57$           

 Service  Current Rate  Proposed Rate 
 Proposed Total 

Increase 
 Trash - Per Ton 57.23$              57.80$                   0.57$                      
 YW/Wood - Per Ton 59.95$              60.55$                   0.60$                      

 Enviromental Fee Per Haul 19.62$              19.82$                   0.20$                      

 SheetRock Disposal Per Ton 

 Metal 
 Concrete 95.38$              96.33$                   0.95$                      

Republic Services
Current and Proposed 1% Monthly Industrial Services Rates for Millersburg

Per Hour

Supplemental  Service and Miscellaneous Fees

Industrial Rate Boxes Security Box

SAME AS TRASH

None

Disposal Pass Through

 HOURLY 

Page 111 of 118



Current and Proposed 1% Monthly Industrial Service Rates for Millersburg Republic Services

 Service  Current Rate  Proposed Rate 
 Proposed Total 

Increase 
 Temp Rent Per Day 
 Temp Industrial Rent Per 
Month 

 $            387.58 391.46$                 3.88$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 

 $            144.32 145.76$                 1.44$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 10yd RE (lidded) 

 $            168.21 169.89$                 1.68$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 20yd RE (lidded) 

 $            168.21 169.89$                 1.68$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 30yd RE (lidded) 

 $            168.21 169.89$                 1.68$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 40yd RE (lidded) 

 $            175.57 177.32$                 1.76$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 10yd RE (lidded) not 
crank 

 $            202.34 204.36$                 2.02$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 20yd RE (lidded) not 
crank 

 $            202.34 204.36$                 2.02$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 30yd RE (lidded) not 
crank 

 $            202.34 204.36$                 2.02$                      

 Perm Industrial Rent Per 
Month 40yd RE (lidded) not 
crank 

 $            209.86 211.96$                 2.10$                      

 Rent 

 Prorated Per Day 

Page 112 of 118



Page 113 of 118



Page 114 of 118



Page 115 of 118



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-01 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG, OREGON, APPROVING 

A RATE INCREASE FOR 2024 FOR REPUBLIC SERVICES 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg contracts, via a Franchise Agreement, with Republic 
Services to provide necessary disposal services to industries, residences, commercial sites, 
and others within the City of Millersburg; and, 

WHEREAS the City acknowledges that costs of these provided services increase with 
time; and, 

WHEREAS, the City has given due consideration to ORS 459A.085; and, 

WHEREAS, Republic Services has requested an increase for January 1, 2024, of 1%, or 
an average of $0.26 to $0.31 per residential account per month, based on the Consumer 
Price Index, fuel pricing, and disposal costs. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MILLERSBURG AS FOLLOWS: 

The City of Millersburg approves the rate increase for Republic Services for January 1, 
2024, of 1%, or an average of $0.26 to $0.31 per residential account per month depending 
on cart size. 

Effective Date.  This resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption. 

Duly passed by the City Council this 9th day of January 2024. 
 
 
 
       
Scott Cowan, Mayor 
City of Millersburg, Oregon 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Sheena Dickerman 
City Recorder 

Page 116 of 118



Page 117 of 118



Page 118 of 118


	A.1_City Council Regular Monthly Meeting Agenda_1-9-24
	E.1_Draft_City Council Meeting Minutes_12-12-23
	F.1_Millersburg Report 12.23
	LINN COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

	F.2 010924 MBG Council Report
	G.1a_CC Staff Report DC 23-02
	I. BACKGROUND
	II. CRITERION
	III. ADDITIONAL FINDINGS
	The following additional findings are included for the record.
	 The City’s Housing Needs Analysis was not formally adopted by the City Council.  None of the proposed changes directly affect or impact housing development in the City, with the possible exception of the inclusion of SRO’s in all residential zones. ...
	 Based on staff’s analysis, all proposed amendments are fully consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and serve to better implement the policies of the Plan because they add additional clarity, address errors, and employ standards that support ...
	 The recently revised CFEC rules require that Cities update their Development Codes.  However, the CFEC OAR’s include other requirements for Cities, outside of Code updates.  OAR 660-012-0405(2) specifically states “Cities and counties shall adopt po...
	IV. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
	V. SUGGESTED MOTION FOR CITY COUNCIL
	VI. EXHIBITS
	Proposed Text Changes (Draft 1.3.24) CC Version.pdf
	CHAPTER 3.03. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING
	3.03.010 Purpose.
	3.03.020 Scope.
	3.03.030 Location.
	3.03.040 Joint Use.
	3.03.050 General Provisions Off-Street Parking and Loading.
	3.03.060 Off-Street Vehicle and Bicycle Parking Requirements.
	3.03.070 Off-Street Loading Requirements.
	3.03.080 Parking, Driveway, and Loading Area Development Requirements.
	3.24.015 Standards.
	3.28.020 General Standards.
	3.09.030 Standards.
	3.02.120 Traffic Impact Analysis.

	CHAPTER 4.02. STANDARDS
	4.02.020 Scope.
	4.02.040 Additional Standards for Subdivisions.

	CHAPTER 3.16. SPECIAL RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS
	3.16.010 Accessory Dwelling Units.
	3.21.040 Farm Uses and Livestock.
	3.02.030 General Provisions.
	3.26.030 Commercial Design Standards.

	CHAPTER 2.13. HISTORICAL PROPERTY OVERLAY ZONE (HPO)
	2.13.040 Historic Landmark Committee Commission.
	2.13.050 Landmark and Historic Zone Designation.
	2.13.060 Demolition and Moving.
	2.13.070 Exterior Alteration and New Construction.
	5.01.030 Table of Land Use Application Procedures.
	4.02.060 Improvement Requirements - Subdivision.
	3.12.030 General Standards - Manufactured Homes.
	3.15.010 Single-family Residences.
	4.02.030 Standards for Lots or Parcels.

	CHAPTER 1.02. DEFINITIONS
	1.02.020 Definitions.
	3.08.060 Vision Clearance.
	2.10.050 Dimensional Standards.



	G.1b_Ordinance 210-24
	I.1_Council Committee Assignments
	2023

	J.1a_Project Updates Memo to Council for 1-9-2024
	J.1b_12.18.23_USACE Drawdown letter
	J.1c_Coalition Letter to Governor Kotek
	K.1_Open mtgs records doc
	L.1a_Council Action_Republic Services Rate Increase
	Action Requested:  Re-consideration for approval of the rate increase requested by Republic Services for solid waste management.
	Discussion: The City of Millersburg currently has an exclusive franchise agreement with Albany-Lebanon Sanitation (dba Republic Services).  Under the franchise agreement Republic Services is required to submit to the City a schedule of rates for its c...
	Our agreement also states the following with regard to establishing rates, or in considering rate increases or decreases, “In establishing rates or in consideration of rate increases or decreases, the City must find that the rates will be just, fair, ...
	Remaining items the Council is to consider are addressed in the current franchise agreement. ORS 459.085 City, county authority to issue collection service franchises; opportunity to recycle; rates, contains additional requirements regarding rate incr...
	Republic Services has provided a cost breakdown of their units of business and customer service.
	The annual rate increase calculation, which was agreed upon by the cities in the region, is based upon the Consumer Price Index, fuel pricing, and disposal costs.  The calculated rate increase this year is a 1.0% increase for 2024.  For a residential ...
	Based on discussions during our November meeting, Republic Services signed an amendment to our current franchise agreement (attached) which extends our notification deadline from December 1, 2023, to June 1, 2024.  This provides time for the parties t...
	Budget Impact:  Approval of the rate increase would result in a slight increase in franchise fees received.
	Recommendation: Staff recommend passage of the attached resolution authorizing the 1% increase, and to direct staff to begin work with Republic Services on an update to our franchise agreement.
	Attachment(s):
	 Rate increase request supporting documentation, current and proposed rates from Republic Services
	 Resolution 2024-10- Republic Services Rate Increase for 2024
	 Amendment to Solid Waste Management Franchise Agreement

	L.1b_2024 RRI Packet Millersburg
	L.1c_Republic Services Amendment
	L.1d_Resolution 2024-01 Republic Services Rate Increase 2024
	M.1b_Budget Committee Kevin Hackstedt_Redacted



